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Figures in NOK 1 000

GROUP 2015 2014 2013

Operating revenue 1 271 925  1 235 360  1 236 835 
Operating profit (loss) 13 015  (10 316)  9 067 

Profit (loss) before tax 6 524  (14 671)  5 567 

Profit (loss) for the year 5 944  (25 015) (8 159)

Net operating margin (%) 1,0 % (0,8 %) 0,7 %

Net profit margin (%) 0,5 % (2,0 %) (0,6 %)

Profit ratio (%) 0,8 % (0,9 %) 0,4 %

Total assets  627 073  579 829  587 318 

Investments  59 171 45 355 100 122

Equity ratio (%) 17,9 % 17,6 % 21,5 %

Return on total assets (%) 1,5 % (1,2 %) 2,4 %

Liquidity ratio 0,72 0,76 0,82

EMPLOYEES

Average number 767 739 748
Average FTEs 731 729 736

DN

Operating revenue  646 798 681 237  725 477 
Operating profit (loss)  49 281  57 168  93 510 

Profit (loss) before tax  56 380  64 694  102 051 

Profit (loss)  41 538 46 716 73 071

Net operating margin (%) 7,6 % 8,4 % 12,9 %

GLOBAL PUBLICATIONS*

Operating revenue  323 349  306 624  289 707 
Operating profit (loss)  18 624 (875)  (11 923) 

Profit (loss) before tax  18 625  463  (8 875) 

Profit (loss)  7 414  (903) (7 382) 

Net operating margin (%) 5,8 % (0,3 %) (4,1 %)

DIRECT RELATIONS* 

Operating revenue  154 482  111 780  101 537 

Operating profit (loss)  (10 443)  (11 844)  (4 942)

Profit (loss) before tax  (10 201)  (11 648)  (4 778)

Profit (loss)  3 441 (11 951) (5 240)

Net operating margin (%) (6,8 %) (10,6 %) (4,9 %)

NAUTICAL CHARTS*

Operating revenue  145 606  123 146  105 820 
Operating profit (loss)  (5 741)  (7 642)  (11 396)

Profit (loss) before tax  (8 013)  (9 751)  (12 156)

Profit (loss)  (7 790) (8 971) (10 094)

Net operating margin (%) (3,9 %) (6,2 %) (10,8 %)

Net operating margin (%) Operating profit (loss) divided by operating revenues  
Net profit margin (%) Profit (loss) for the year divided by operating revenues
Profit ratio (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by operating revenues 
 
Equity ratio (%) Equity divided by total capital  
Return on total assets (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by average total capital

Liquidity ratio Current assets divided by current liabilities
Employees and FTE Full time employees

KEY FIGURES

* Not including amortisation on group goodwill
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“With regard to Norges Sjøfartstidende’s operating capital, it was 
unfortunately deplorable. During the five years I led the company, it 
was a hand-to-mouth existence, and barely that.”

MAGNUS ANDERSEN, FOUNDER AND EDITOR, 1890-1894
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NHST in 2015

DN – Profit affected by a 
demanding advertising market
In 2015, the DN segment consisted of the 
companies Dagens Næringsliv and TDN 
Finans, as well as the brands DN.no and D2. 
In 2015, the advertising market in Norway 
was affected by two conditions: an accele-
rated transition away from paper-based 
media towards digital global advertising 
carriers such as Google and Facebook, and 
uncertainty in the Norwegian economy as 
a result of the drop in the oil price. Both 
conditions pulled in the same direction, 
resulting in a decline in advertising revenues. 
However, there were also positive signs, 
since both D2 and digital products exhibited 
advertising growth. Total revenues within 
the DN segment were down 5 %. Advertising 
revenues fell 10 %, while circulation reve-
nues were down 3 % as a result of decreasing 
single copy sales. Expenses were also down 
by NOK 27 million, but this was not 
enough to compensate for the reduction in 
revenues. Operating profit was NOK 49 
million, down from NOK 57 million in 
2014. The operating margin remained steady 
at just under 8 %. DN’s digital products are 
currently being developed further, with 
new products being added to the range.  
In December the subscription model was 
changed so that all subscribers now have 
access to the digital products. Growth in 
web traffic has been good throughout 2015, 
and DN.no is on its way to becoming one of 
Norway’s ten largest websites in terms of 
traffic.

Global – A changing organisation 
and profit growth
In 2015, the Global segment consisted of 

TradeWinds, Intrafish including fishing 
industry magazine Fiskaren, Upstream, 
Recharge and Europower. The international 
media market has not been immune to the 
same changes that have affected the market 
in Norway. Despite leading market posi-
tions in their respective niches, advertising 
revenues in the global publications also 
decreased. Intrafish also sold Fishing News 
Weekly in May. Total revenues were 
NOK 323 million, which is an increase of 
5 % from 2014. Advertising revenues were 
down 8 %, while circulation revenues 
increased by 8 %. Expenses were reduced 
by NOK 3 million throughout 2015 due to 
a number of cost-reducing measures within 
the organisations. This resulted in an 
improvement in the operating result, from 
a loss in 2014 to a profit of NOK 19 million 
in 2015. Included in both the revenues and 
profit is the one-off impact of the sale of 
the lease agreement for the London office 
for NOK 11 million. The much weaker 
Norwegian krone also significantly influenced 
expenses and revenues in 2015, but the net 
effect was neutral.

Direct Relations – Continued high 
customer loyalty and renewed 
growth
The Direct Relations segment returned to a 
higher growth rate in 2015. Both the organic 
growth of 27 % and the overall growth in 
revenues of 38 % were an improvement on 
2014. Media monitoring company Interme-
dium was acquired and included in the 
segment in May. Throughout 2015 there has 
been continued focus on product develop-
ment and geographical expansion in 
Germany and the UK. Total revenues in 2015 

were NOK 154 million. The Nordic region 
continued to be the area that contributed 
most to the growth. Expenses increased to 
NOK 165 million in line with the business 
activities undertaken during the year.  
The increase in the number of employees 
resulting from the existing sales model 
continued to be the cause of the increase  
in expenses. The operating loss was NOK 
10 million, which is a slight improvement 
on 2014. This is the second year with a  
significant operating loss as a result of  
efforts outside the Nordic region and 
on product development.

Nautical Charts – Top line growth 
continued while profitability 
remains low
The Nautical Charts segment experienced 
significant top line growth for the second 
year in a row. This growth was driven by 
developments in Europe and parts of Asia. 
The shipping market varied substantially 
throughout 2015, from weak markets in the 
oil service and parts of the freight segment, 
to improved tanker shipping conditions. 
The Nautical Charts segment is exposed 
to all these markets, and is experiencing 
challenging conditions in several markets 
despite the growth. The gross margins 
stabilised at satisfactory levels in 2015, but 
profitability remained unsatisfactory. 
Revenues comprised NOK 146 million, an 
increase of 18 %, while the operating loss 
was NOK 6 million, somewhat better than 
in 2014. Nautical Charts is at the forefront 
of digital developments in the industry, 
and launched NaviTab, the world’s first 
completely digital collection of publications 
on tablet, in the spring of 2015. 

“NHST Media Group shall be a leading information 
provider within the industries in which the group 
operates, both in Norway and internationally. 
The group’s brand positions in the respective 
segments are based on our understanding of 
what is important to readers and customers, 
and on allowing this to define our products.”
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KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014
Operating revenue 1 271 925  1 235 360 

Operating profit/(loss) 13 015  (10 316)

Profit/(loss) before tax 6 524  (14 671)

Profit/(loss) for the year 5 944 (25 015)

442
NUMBER OF FTES 

IN NORWAY

326
NUMBER OF FTES 

INTERNATIONALLY

2015

EBITDA

34

-10
OPERATING PROFIT

EBITDA

54

13
OPERATING PROFIT

2014
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NHST – MOVING FORWARD

“As 2015 draw to its end, it was time to look 
back at 2015 and remember some of the 
achievements we accomplished during the 
year. For NHST Media Group, it has been yet 
another exciting year. A lot of changes and 
some progress made, not least financially. 
However, there are still plenty of clouds and 
even some rain showers on the macroeconomic 
and media structural horizons, as we set sail 
for 2016.”

During the first quarter, we were able to get 
good traction. Sales growth was up, several 
cost efficiency projects were on track and 
the profitability significantly better than 
last year. High editorial quality, as well as 
high quality in our media services are the 
core of NHST. The game changer is the  
digitalisation of almost everything in our 
global village and society. In our media 
context, that means changes in reader 
habits and their media consumption, chan-
ging competitive landscapes and changes 
to our own service-offerings and production. 
The single most profitable transaction in 
the quarter was however of a very different 
nature. It was the sale of the lease-contract 
on NHSTs offices in London. It netted a 
substantial MNOK 11.  

Another exceptional thing was the launch 
of the book by Morten Møst about the 
125 years history of NHST Media Group– 
Making Waves. Great to see our history so 
well documented.

During the second quarter, we saw a lot of 
the same business development as in the 
first quarter – but at a slower pace and 
with no positive improvement on the bot-
tom line. The lower oil-price was hitting us 
harder. Upstream and DN were especially 

hard hit by torpedoes in the advertising 
market, as the oil-companies and the oil-
services-companies were contracting, affec-
ting both the Norwegian and global econo-
my. The significant fluctuations in the 
currencies had another significant impact 
– as the Norwegian Kroner was deprecia-
ting against all the major currencies (down 
20 – 40 %) because of the lower oil-prices. 
In May we did something quite unusual for 
NHST – we sold a newspaper. The more 

than 100 years old British weekly newspa-
per Fishing News. We had been the owner 
for seven years, but wanted to focus on 
Norwegian or truly global publications 
going forward. In June, Peter Ingman  
stepped down as Managing Director of  
Mynewsdesk and was replaced by Mattias 
Malmstrøm. Peter had been the MD from 
2003 – and he has seen a company growing 
from next to zero to soon MNOK 200 in  
sales, 200 employees and a significant  
value-creation. We have great plans for  
Mynewsdesk going forward – and in  
the second quarter NHST acquired  
Intermedium a media monitoring company 
to further strengthen Mynewsdesk. 

In the third quarter, we experienced rene-
wed revenue growth for the group. Not le-
ast because the Global Publications were 
growing faster and with improved profita-
bility, DN had better months relative to last 
year and Nautisk saw better margins and 
increased sales. In the third quarter, we 
also celebrated the 25th anniversary of  
TradeWinds (actually, we started in June in 
Athens – and ended with a grand finale in 
London in November). From zero sales for 
TradeWinds twenty-five years ago – to the 
world’s leading shipping publication by far. 
Impressive reputation and testimonies for 

Making waves. The history of NHST Media 
Group by Morten Møst.

NHST – moving forward
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Gunnar Bjørkavåg
CEO

editorial quality – not least due to the busi-
ness insight - from the professionals in the 
shipping industry. 

TradeWinds has also spearheaded NHST’s 
global expansions. Without TradeWinds it 
would be a very different NHST today.  
During this third quarter we also launched 
several new digital services – and with a lot 
of positive feedback from the market.                                                                                       

The fourth quarter is always special. On 
the one hand – full attention, focus and  
activities to close those year-end deals as 
well as longer term deals for the coming 
year. We also attended a lot of conferences 
and big events. Paris was special for us in 
this period. First, it was the terrible terror-
attacks on the Friday evening, then during 
the weekend we sent  “Rechargers” to Paris 
– to prepare for and issue the show dailies 
during the big EWEA conference the follo-
wing week. Finally, we have the Paris-accord 
in December – defining many changes for 
all of us, privately as well as professionally. 
In Norway, there has been a lot of topics to 
cover for DN, from the global economic 
shifts and crisis to the more local financial 
and national issues. The most spectacular 
one is possibly the corruption charges ver-
sus the partly state own telecom company 

Telenor via Vimpelcom (a big mobile tele-
com-operator in East-Europe and some co-
untries in Asia). The story seemingly got 
no end and plenty of offspring.  In Decem-
ber, we also converted all of DN’s paper 
subscribers into digital subscribers by in-
cluding the digital product portfolio into 
all of DN’s products.  This is a crucial step 
going forward and we must succeed in gro-
wing the digital readership of DN. 

Strategically, we plan to strengthen NHST 
for the years to come. More profitable, so-
mewhat bigger and more international.  
Relatively less green field activities (new 
products in new markets) and much more 
digital and better at what we do.  We also 
intend to become even more efficient and 
effective in most functions as we internally 
utilize technology and our competencies 
better. Regarding efficiency, we had good 
examples during 2015. Upstream and 
Recharge reduced costs – across all func-
tions - and that is the prime reason for the 
improved profitability. In addition, in DN’s 
commercial department, we have changed 
from primarily manual sales to digital sales 
models. Going forward – we will see a lot 
more of these combinations of efficiency 
focuses, traditional cost reductions and 
new spending. 

The current market-trend is that we must 
expect to navigate higher seas, more unpre-
dictable winds and in generally more un-
certainty. We are in the middle of huge 
structural changes in the media-business 
and in the society at large – changes which 
we expect will take many years to pass 
through. However, the underlying trend is 
good – as more and more people is getting 
better education and better jobs – there is 
more trade and as such higher demand for 
NHST’s type of media and media related 
services. Our competitiveness is good, as 
proven by our leading market positions.  
Nevertheless, we need to develop our com-
petencies and increase the speed of our  
digital transition and digital sales. As the 
market evolves, NHST needs to stay ahead 
of the markets – as NHST has always done 
in our 126 years long history. Onwards and 
upwards NHST Media Group.  

Going into 2016 we will stay very 
consistent with our long term 
strategy:

• Developing and strengthening  
 our leading business and high   
 end media position in Norway 

• Developing and strengthening  
 our leading media positions in  
 shipping, oil and gas, seafood   
 and renewable energies in the   
 world 

• Developing and strengthening  
 our leading position in pr media  
 technology services in the   
 Nordics and some selected   
 markets 

• Developing and strengthening  
 our position as one of the   
 leading nautical charts and   
 services providers in the world 
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TECHNOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

TECHNOLOGICAL  
DEVELOPMENT 

1890
Norges Sjøfartstidende appears for the 
first time on January 1, printed by the  
Jensen bookbinding company on Brogaten 
(Bridge Street) in Kristiania (now Oslo). 
Editor Magnus Andersen soon purchases  
a used, manually operated printing press. 
As circulation rises, the newspaper invests 
in a new, gas-powered printing press along 
with its own letterpress. The newspaper 
distinguishes itself from other newspapers 
at the time by using a Latin font.

1899
After a fire at the printing plant,  
the newspaper invests in a modern  
typographic press that produces its own 
lead type, but with Gothic font.

1932
The newspaper acquires a Siemens  
teletype machine to receive wire  
dispatches from the news service  
Norsk Telegrambyrå (NTB). 

1946
Norway establishes international telex 
connections, which come to have growing 
importance for the newspaper’s  
editorial department, its  
administration and its subsidiary  
that published maps and charts.

1974
Offset printing is introduced 
with the paper’s own Solna  
rotation press, installed onsite  
in the office building where the 
newspaper was housed for 70 
years, Sjøfartsbygningen in 
downtown Oslo.

1958
Long-term printing plant cooperation  
begins with Morgenposten.
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1980
Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende  
converts to tabloid format, with its layout 
inspired by the Danish newspaper Børsen.

1986
The newspaper begins to print news graphics produced 
itself on a Macintosh computer that’s part of the new 
“desktop publishing” wave. A special agreement is 
reached with the labour union representing typographers 
to enable the innovation.

1987
The newspaper changes its name to Dagens Næringsliv 
(DN) and editorial staffers can begin writing and editing 
stories themselves, directly on their computers without 
the typographers having to rewrite them into the printing 
system. The equipment is terminal-based from the  
American supplier Atex, which won the contract in  
competition with the leading local player Norsk Data.  
Editorial staff in London can begin to send articles home 
to Oslo over telephone lines, from a portable Toshiba  
personal computer.

1985
The company installs its first telefax, which the  
editorial and advertising departments must share.  
A new agreement to print the paper is reached with 
the newspaper Nationen, through a joint venture 
limited partnership known as a kommandittselskap (KS).

1995
Experiments with Internet publishing begin through the 
online subscription service Mercur.

1997
The online news service TDN Ajour is launched, charging 
a subscription fee. It is later renamed DN Ajour.

2000
DN.no is launched as an open online news service at  
no charge, a new business model for the company.  
The service has its own editorial staff to produce content 
in competition with the editorial staff of the paper edition.

2015
Subscribers to DN’s paper edition are given full access to 
all the newspaper’s online services as well.
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PROFIT AFFECTED BY A DEMANDING 
ADVERTISING MARKET DN

÷5 % ÷14 % Revenues  
MNOK 647

Operating result 
MNOK 49

A CHANGING ORGANISATION 
AND PROFIT GROWTHGLOBAL

+5 % +2 200 % Revenues  
MNOK 323

Operating result  
MNOK 19

CONTINUED HIGH CUSTOMER LOYALTY 
AND RENEWED GROWTH 

DIRECT  
RELATIONS

+38 % +12 %Revenues  
MNOK 154

Operating result  
MNOK ÷10

TOP LINE GROWTH CONTINUED WHILE 
PROFITABILITY REMAINS LOW

NAUTICAL 
CHARTS

+18 % +25 %Revenues  
MNOK 146

Operating result  
MNOK ÷6
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NHST PRODUCTS

NHST
products

GLOBALDN

238
FTES

221
FTES

647
MILLION

REVENUE

323
MILLION

REVENUE

TradeWinds
The world’s leading shipping newspaper

Upstream
The world’s leading newsprovider to the 
oil and gas Industry

Recharge
The Global new energy magazine 
Recharge and a newssite catering to the 
renewables industry

IntraFish:
Norwegian and global publications for 
the seafood, fisheries and aquaculture  
industries

FiskeribladetFiskaren

Fishing News International

Fish Farming International

Seafood processor

Europower: Energi
Magazine for the Nordic power market

radewinds.no
Global shipping news

upstreamonline.com
Global oil and gas news

rechargenews.com
Global renewable energy news

intrafish.com
Globale sjømatnyheter

intrafish.no
Norwegian seafood news

fiskeribladetfiskaren.no
Online version of the leading  
Norwegian fisheries newspaper

seafoodinternationaldigital.com
Leading global publication for seafood 
executives

europower.no
Leading news service for  
the Nordic power market

Events
Global conference activities 
in the shipping sector

Intstream
Software platform for power 
traders and analysts

Morgenbladet (33 %)
Weekly newspaper and newssite

DN.no
The leading website for financial  
news in Norway

DN digital
Norway’s largest business 
 newspaper, daily on iPad

TDN finans
Norway’s leading financial news  
service for the professional market

dagensit.no 

smak.no

DN Gründer

DN Investor

Dagens Næringsliv
Norway’s largest business newspaper  
with a circulation of more than 80,000 

D2
Published every Friday with Dagens  
Næringsliv, offering Norway’s most  
up-to-date perspectives on lifestyle  
and culture

PAPER

DIGITAL

OTHER
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NAUTICAL CHARTS OTHERDIRECT RELATIONS

185
FTES

54
FTES

40
FTES

154
MILLION

REVENUE

146
MILLION

REVENUE

88
MILLION

REVENUE

Nautisk
International portfolio of nautical 
charts and maritime publications

Nautisk USA
Distributor of charts and maritime 
publications in New Orleans

Nautisk filialer i:
Hong Kong 
Singapore 
Bristol

Neptune
Electronic information service 
for on-board use

PAYS (Pay-as-you-sail) 
Electronic charts distributed when used

NaviTab
Digital publications presented on a tablet

Smartcom (35 %)
Leading web-TV production and  
distribution company in Norway

Mynewsdesk.com
Online distribution of content  
from businesses

Intermedium.no

Mynewsdesk
Leading communication platform for 
SME companies in their marketing and 
communication with customers and 
market

Intermedium
Media monitoring service branches in 
the Norwegan market
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DN

DN

CIRCULATION REVENUEADVERTISING REVENUE OTHER REVENUE

58 %41 % 2 %

The organisation consists of Norway’s largest 
business newspaper, Dagens Næringsliv (DN), 
including the weekend magazines D2 and 
Magasinet, which are distributed through print 
and tablet editions, as e-newspapers and on the 
DN+ website, as well as the DN.no, DNGründer 
and Smak websites. The company TDN Finans, 
a real-time supplier of news about and for the 
Norwegian stock and interest rate markets, 
is also a part of this business segment.

Market
Both the advertising and readership markets 
were demanding last year. The market for 
print edition advertisements were especially 
demanding. New in 2015 was that many 
Norwegian media houses also experienced a 
decline in digital advertising revenues. In 
Dagens Næringsliv, advertising revenues 
from the print edition decreased, while we 
experienced an increase in digital revenues, 
and advertising growth in the D2 Friday 
magazine.

The readership market shows a continued 
decline in circulation for print edition news-
papers, while the sale of digital subscription 
solutions is growing. In 2015, several media 
houses reported that the growth in digital 
subscriptions is strong enough to ensure that 
the total circulation is no longer in decline, 
despite the reduction in sales of print edition 
newspapers. However, reader surveys show 
that product loyalty is lower among digital 
subscribers than among print edition 
subscribers. Digital subscriptions therefore 
have a higher churn rate, and are often sold 
at significantly lower prices than print 
edition subscriptions.

In recent years, TDN has seen that its market 
has been affected by the decline in the 
number of employees in financial services. 

Competition from social media is also 
increasing. Despite this, the company has 
managed to maintain stable revenues.
 
Dagens Næringsliv is in direct competition 
with other newspapers in the finance segment, 
in both print and digital editions. We also 
compete with other media, in all channels, 
for both readers and advertisers. Our assess-
ment is that last year, both the newspaper’s 
print and digital editions achieved better 
development in the advertising market than 
our competitors in the media industry. 

Digital development
Dagens Næringsliv made significant invest-
ments in digital product development last 
year. In 2015, we experienced significant 
growth in digital traffic, and the company 
achieved  higher growth than the market. 
Over the past year we have implemented 
several editorial initiatives, where we have 
utilised our strengthened competence within 
digital storytelling. We have increased the 
user-friendliness of both the mobile and 
desktop versions of DN.no. The company has 
launched several new digital services such as 
DNGründer.no and Smak.no, a property 
search database. DNInvestor was launched 
in January 2016, and has been extremely 
well received. Viral website Bisbuzz.no was 
closed down in the summer of 2015, but the 

lessons learned from the establishment 
and operation of this website have been 
important for other initiatives. 

Important in 2015
In 2015, the most important development 
trends continued to relate to digital activities. 
Perhaps most important of all was that 
towards the end of the year, we made all 
subscriptions digital. We no longer offer 
print edition only subscriptions as a product. 
All former print edition subscriptions now 
feature digital access as a part of the 
subscription. This helps to increase the 
readership of digital content, and also helps 
to improve digital product development. 

Into 2016
The advertising market is expected to 
be weak in 2016 as a result of the ongoing 
structural changes within the media market. 
The economic situation, with low oil prices 
and weak financial markets, may also 
negatively impact  Dagens Næringsliv’s 
revenues. It is therefore important to both 
further increase the efficiency of operations, 
and to establish new revenue streams. In 
recent years we have experienced positive 
results from a steadily increasing focus on 
the conference market. This will be established 
as a dedicated business segment in 2016.

REVENUE PER CATEGORY
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REVENUE GROWTH

-5 % 8 %
OPERATING MARGIN

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  266 047  294 759  337 150 

Circulation revenue 365 612  377 867  379 703 

Other sales revenue  15 138  8 612  8 624 

Total operating revenues  646 798  681 237  725 477 

Operating expenses  (597 517)  (624 069)  (631 968)

Operating profit/(loss)  49 281  57 168  93 510 

Net financial items  7 099  7 527  8 541 

Profit/(loss) before tax  56 380  64 694  102 051 

236
NUMBER OF FTES 

IN NORWAY

2
NUMBER OF FTES  
INTERNATIONALLY

PAPER REVENUE

505 757 

DIGITAL REVENUE

123 983 
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The Norwegian media market continued to be demanding in 2015. The advertising market for newspapers has been shrinking 
over several years, and this continued to be the case in 2015. Despite a decline of 10 % in advertising revenues, several of DN’s 
products also experienced positive developments. Print edition advertising declined in particular, while digital advertising 
experienced growth. Total revenues in 2015 amounted to NOK 646.8 million, which was down 5 %. Beyond the advertising 
revenues, circulation revenues were also down as a result of decreased non-subscription sales, while subscription revenues 
increased. Expenses also decreased by 4 %, which corresponds to NOK 27 million. However, this was not enough to compensate 
for the negative change in revenues. Operating profit was therefore down 14 %, to NOK 49.3 million, which gives an operating 
margin of 8 %. Both cost-reducing and revenue-generating measures are being implemented in order to compensate for the 
challenges in the advertising market.
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DN

DN

DAGENS  
NÆRINGSLIV
• Results affected by a demanding  
 advertising market

• Print edition advertising revenues  
 were down, while the growth in  
 digital products is starting to    
 compensate in terms of value

• Digital subscription revenues   
 continue to grow

TDN 
FINANS 
• Three consecutive years with   
 increased revenues from a niche  
 market

• Operating profit somewhat   
 reduced

• Defending market position as   
 the largest distributor to the   
 professional market in Norway

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Operating revenues  10 777  10 604  10 454 

Operating expenses  (10 162)  (9 651)  (9 450)

Operating profit/(loss)  615  953  1 004 

Net financial items  176  201  218 

Profit/(loss) before tax  791  1 154  1 222 

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  266 047  294 759  337 150 

Circulation revenue  355 381  367 809  369 796 

Other sales revenue  15 138  8 612  8 624 

Operating revenues  636 565  671 179  715 570 

Operating expenses  (587 900)  (614 965)  (623 064)

Operating profit/(loss)  48 666  56 215  92 506 

Net financial items  6 923  7 326  8 322 

Profit/(loss) before tax  55 588  63 540  100 828 

NUMBER OF
FTES

NUMBER OF
FTES

231

7
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UNIQUE ONLINE USERS 
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Global With the five publications TradeWinds,Upstream, 
Intrafish, Recharge and Europower, NHST’s global 
media organisation is represented at 19 locations 
throughout the world. In 2015 all content sales 
were gathered under a single management team 
within the division, and the activities will be 
managed regionally from London, Stamford, 
Singapore and Houston. The work to collate 
central functions under a single management 
team will continue in 2016.

Market
All the publications in the Global segment 
publish content within the shipping, oil and 
gas, seafood and renewable energy niches. 
For all five titles, the target audience is indivi-
duals who work at a management level within 
these industries, or those who provide 
services to them from the private or public 
sector. The ability to produce relevant content 
for these audiences, and being able to justify 
prices that reflect the costs of maintaining a 
global network of sales staff and journalists, 
are therefore the most important factors for 
success. Market-oriented product develop-
ment and improving the efficiency of the 
editorial and sales organisations have there-
fore top priority within the division.

Furthermore, the current trend is that 
revenues from related activities are on the 
rise. In Global this means that conference 
revenues are increasing. NHST’s global 
publications have developed strong 
communities around the publications, and 
revenues from these interest groups are 
increasing. All the publications also act as an 
attractive physical meeting place for managers 
in the industries covered by the editorial 
products. TradeWinds has developed its 
conference products around events such as 
“Shipowner’s Forums”. Similarly, Intrafish 
Media has established “Seafood Investor 
Forums”, and Recharge’s “Thought Leaders 
Summits” have become a meeting place for 
managers within renewable energy and 
purchasers of clean energy. These activities 
have increased throughout 2015, and will be 

further increased in 2016. Upstream does not 
arrange conferences itself since the oil and 
gas segment is saturated with conferences, 
and competition is fierce. However, Upstream 
has a significant revenue stream from oil 
industry conferences and events through its 
“Show Dailies”, which are trade show news-
papers (print and digital) distributed at trade 
shows through rights from the event organiser.

Important in 2015
More business development. In order to 
increase the competitiveness of the 
publications, all resources relating to business 
development shall be centralised and 
gathered together under a single manage-
ment team. Parts of this centralisation 
process have been completed in 2015, and 
work will continue in 2016. The common 
management of the function has been imple-
mented in 2015. This applies to the project 
manager roles, and functions associated with 
data collection and analysis and programming. 
An important part of the work to increase the 
speed at which product development is 
undertaken has been to transfer the publica-
tions to a common technical platform. The 
work to establish the common platform was 
completed in 2015, and all the publications 
will start to use it in 2016.

Common management for content sales. The 
global publications are experiencing growth 
in revenues from content sales. In order to 
strengthen this development, this function 
has also been given a common management 
team. Significant investments have been 

made, and will continue to be made, in 
digitising content sales. This will be done in 
order to increase the precision and efficiency 
of the sales activities. A larger part of the con-
tent sales will concentrate on the big names 
for the division’s activities in London, 
Stamford, Singapore and Houston.

Into 2016
The significant drop in the oil price observed 
throughout 2015 posed great challenges for 
the global publications throughout the year, 
particularly from declining advertising 
volumes from oil-related organisations and 
currency effects caused by a depreciating 
Norwegian currency.

Naturally, the decline in advertising hit 
Upstream the hardest. Early in the year, work 
was started to adapt the activity level within 
the organisation to the decreasing advertising 
revenues, in addition to the cost-reduction 
programmes that were initiated in 2014. It is 
management’s conclusion that it has been 
possible to do this while simultaneously 
increasing the products’ competitiveness.

The foreign currency effects have had a rela-
tively neutral effect on the publications’ ope-
rating profit, but have resulted in the divisi-
ons’ expenses remaining unchanged from 
2014. After currency adjustments, the costs in 
real terms have been reduced by 8 % through 
various efficiency improvement measures 
implemented throughout 2014 and 2015. The 
efficiency improvement work will continue 
throughout 2016.

REVENUE DISTRIBUTION PER COMPANY

UPSTREAM

29 %

INTRAFISH

25 %

RECHARGE

4 %

EUROPOWER

6 %

TRADEWINDS

36 %
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In 2015 the business segment included the operations in TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish, Recharge and Europower. 
The Global segment continued to experience positive developments, with further improved profitability. Total revenues 
increased by 5 % to NOK 323 million. At the same time, costs were cut by 1 %, giving an operating margin of 6 % and operating 
profit of NOK 18 million. Included in the revenues and operating profit is a one-off gain of NOK 11 million, achieved through the 
changing of the office premises in London. The advertising market and macro conditions were challenging for several of the 
Global organisations throughout 2015. Advertising revenues were down 8 %, while subscription revenues increased by 
8 %. TradeWinds experienced good top-line growth, while the other organisations experienced no change, or slight negative 
growth. All the organisations contributed improved profitability in 2015. Foreign currency effects resulting from a weaker 
Norwegian krone throughout 2015 affected both revenues and expenses, but the net effect was not significant.

REVENUE GROWTH

5 % 6 %
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Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  111 277  121 442  118 340 

Circulation revenue  178 006  164 799  153 627 

Other sales revenue  34 065  20 383  17 740 

Total operating revenues  323 348  306 624  289 707 

Operating expenses  (304 724)  (307 499)  (301 630)

Operating profit/(loss)  18 624  (875)  (11 923)

Net financial items  (1 302)  1 337  3 051 

Profit/(loss) before tax  17 322  463  (8 872)

*) These figures do not include amortisation on group goodwill.
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GLOBAL

Global
INTRAFISH
• Sold Fishing News in May in  
 order to focus on international  
 and Norwegian titles

• Top line affected by challenging  
 advertising markets

• Conversion of international  
 titles to digital products took  
 longer than expected

• Decline in profit due to  
 reduction in revenues

UPSTREAM
• Challenging markets due to  
 low oil prices

• Profit growth driven by  
 foreign currency effects, not  
 underlying growth

• Revenues from readership  
 market continue to increase

• Cost adjustments implemented,  
 but profitability remains  
 unsatisfactory

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  43 733  50 142  47 820 

Circulation revenue  46 830 40 608  38 111 

Other sales revenue  2 687  401  212 

Total operating revenues  93 250  91 151  86 143 

Operating expenses  (89 383)  (94 355)  (89 094)

Operating profit/(loss)  3 867  (3 204)  (2 951)

Net financial items  (2 266)  586  850 

Profit/(loss) before tax  1 601  (2 618)  (2 101)

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000*) 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  22 816  29 843  32 183 

Circulation revenue  44 006  47 184  44 900 

Press subsidy  6 077  7 358  5 776 

Other sales revenue  7 180  2 768  2 869 

Total operating revenues  80 080  87 153  85 729 

Operating expenses  (76 893)  (78 971)  (83 947)

Operating profit/(loss)  3 187  8 182  1 783 

Net financial items  999  953  1 702 

Profit/(loss) before tax  4 185  9 135  3 484 

*) These figures do not include amortisation on group  
goodwill.

NUMBER OF
FTES

NUMBER OF
FTES

66

67
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DIGITAL REVENUE
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GLOBAL

Global
TRADEWINDS
• Continued top-line growth driven  
 by readership market revenues

• Challenging advertising market,  
 but some growth

• Continued profit growth

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  35 013  30 548  27 906 

Circulation revenue  68 631  58 954 51 744 

Other sales revenue  12 065  7 081  7 040 

Total operating revenues  115 708  96 583  86 690 

Operating expenses  (100 198)  (88 876)  (86 660)

Operating profit/(loss) 15 510  7 707  30 

Net financial items  1 291  676  1 394 

Profit/(loss) before tax 16 801  8 383  1 423 

NUMBER OF
FTES

59

RECHARGE
• Market continues to be challenging

• Substantial cost adjustments   
 implemented

• Profitability remains unsatisfactory

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Advertising revenue  5 208  6 267  4 851 

Circulation revenue  3 379  3 348  4 149 

Other sales revenue  3 521  728 0 

Total operating revenues  12 108  10 343  9 000 

Operating expenses  (17 365)  (23 813)  (19 751)

Operating profit/(loss)  (5 257)  (13 470)  (10 751)

Net financial items  (266)  (578)  (588)

Profit/(loss) before tax  (5 524)  (14 049)  (11 339)

NUMBER OF
FTES

14

EUROPOWER
• Top-line decline turned into   
 top-line growth

• Improved profitability from   
 operations

• Write-down of share values   
 influences company results

KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000 2015 2014 2013
Total operating revenues  20 146  19 631  20 450 

Operating expenses  (19 774)  (19 935)  (21 009)

Operating profit/(loss)  372  (304)  (559)

Net financial items  (3 833)  (98)  (149)

Profit/(loss) before tax  (3 460)  (402)  (708)

*) These figures do not include amortisation on group  
goodwill.

NUMBER OF
FTES

9
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Direct relations

The market - The digital 
transformation continues
The market trend with PR and Marketing 
merging into one large and complex area 
of modern Communication continued 
through 2015. Here as in most other tech 
areas at the moment Software as a Service 
(SaaS) continue to be the preferred 
business model. Suppliers and agencies 
continuously develop their range of 
services to fit the newly forming market 
of Brand Publishers and the competitive 
landscape for marketing technology 
keeps changing. 
 
Within the category of PR technology the 
private equity firm GTCR, owner of Cision, 
acquired the world’s leading news distribu-
tion company PRNewswire for USD 841m. 
This means that in the last two years GTCR 
has spent over USD 1.7b to acquire six 
companies within the segment of PR Tech; 
Cision, Vocus, Gorkana, PRNewswire, 
Visible Technologies and Viral Heat. GTCR 
are working on the integration of these 
businesses and the development of a next 
generation platform. If successful, it will 
bring increased global competition into 
Mynewsdesk’s home market.
 
The broader marketing automation 
category has continued to mature, with 
leading technology companies such as 

Salesforce, IBM, Oracle and Adobe, making 
the most of their acquisitions within 
marketing automation technologies. 
Furthermore, content marketing startups 
have continued to see significant funding 
from venture capital and media companies. 
Whilst many of these platforms focus initi-
ally on the Enterprise sector, they also have 
the potential to become relevant solutions 
for small and medium sized businesses, 
which to a higher degree than the former 
group demand one platform for all their 
communication.

Mynewsdesk in 2015
Also in 2015, most of the growth in 
Mynewsdesk´s business came from its 
market-leading Nordic operations. The 
number of new customers has continued 
to increase significantly and the retention 
of existing customers stays at a high level, 
reflecting a loyal and satisfied customer 
base. 
 
In Norway, Mynewsdesk acquired 
Intermedium, further strengthening the 
position in the Norwegian market. This 
also marked an entry into the media 
monitoring space for Mynewsdesk, 
highlighting the increased interdependency 
between effective PR activities and 
analytics. 
 

During 2015, Mynewsdesk continued to 
develop its operations in the UK and 
Germany and while it is takes time, there 
were encouraging signs of progress. 
Significant investment in developing the 
product continued, in order to ensure that 
Mynewsdesk can meet the customers 
demand for the most user-friendly and 
cutting edge solution for managing and 
optimizing modern PR. 
 
All in all, 2015 has been a year where 
Mynewsdesk again has showed high 
growth in accordance with plan, whilst at 
the same time improving bottom-line 
performance. 

Towards 2016
Throughout 2016, customers will 
increasingly see the results of the 
significant effort that has gone into 
developing the Mynewsdesk platform. 
Meanwhile, the product development 
continues at an accelerated pace to deliver 
on customer expectations. The combination 
of the good sales performance in 2015 and 
these efforts to develop the platform 
should position the company well for 
further international growth.  Mynewsdesk 
aims to continue to benefit from being one 
of the few challengers to the bigger consoli-
dated global giants.
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KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000*) 2015 2014 2013
Operating revenues  154 482  111 780  101 537 

Operating expenses  (164 925)  (123 624)  (106 479)

Operating profit/(loss)  (10 443)  (11 844) (4 942) 

Net financial items  243  196  164 

Profit/(loss) before tax  (10 201)  (11 648) (4 778) 

*) These figures do not include amortisation on group goodwill.  
    

REVENUE GROWTH
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Direct Relations revenues increased by 38 % in 2015, and the growth rate was on the increase once again after somewhat 
weaker growth in 2014. The growth was the result of both organic growth and the acquisition of Intermedium in May. 
Efforts to develop the organisations in Germany and the UK, and within product development, continued – all activities that 
again negatively impacted upon the profit also for 2015. Total revenues amounted to NOK 154.5 million, while expenses 
increased by 33 % to NOK 164.9 million. The sales model continues to be labour intensive, which also explains the increase 
in operating expenses. The operating loss was NOK 10.4 million, which was somewhat better than in the previous year. 
Customer loyalty remains high, and new products will further strengthen the organisation in 2016.
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NAUTICAL CHARTS

PUBLICATIONS

62 %

NAUTICAL CHARTS
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EUROPE
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22 %

AMERICAS

13 %

Nautical 
Charts

Market
The market conditions changed rather 
significantly for Nautical in 2015, with 
several of the changes going against the 
developments seen over the past 2-3 years. 
The recent trend has been a reduction in 
revenues per ship, but an increase in the 
number of subscribing ships. However, in 
2015, the average consumption per ship 
increased by 19 %, but the Nautical simul-
taneously lost 600 ship subscriptions, pri-
marily from Oslo and Singapore. The reces-
sion in the oil industry has also affected the 
Nautical segment, particularly in Oslo and 
Aberdeen, and from July this resulted in 
around NOK 1.4 million in lost revenues 
per month. Throughout 2015, the organisa-
tion has continued to win new customer 
groups, thanks to the global presence and 
breath of the offered product range. 
However, the growth rate has fluctuated, 
and at year-end the were lost several large 
tenders due to price. It has been a 
particularly difficult balance to increase 
prices in order to maintain gross margins 
locally, and to simultaneously be competi-
tive in global tendering processes. Consoli-
dation within the industry is again taking 
place at an increasing rate. Several OEMs 
were sold, and more mergers have been 
announced going forward.

Digital development 
Revenues from digital products continued 
to increase, and now comprise 20 % of the 
total revenues.

In June 2015 the new NaviTab digital book 
concept was launched. This is a completely 
digital product, supplied pre-installed on a 
tablet, and where the content covers almost 
100 % of all publications that the ships 
must have on-board.

The current trend is that several companies 
and organisations are attempting to 
develop their own e-navigation concepts. 
This is nothing new within the Nautical 
segment, since our solutions have been 
copied right from the start. The difference 
now is that in order to become an official 
e-Navigation supplier, there are a number 
of regulations and standards that must be 
adhered to. The most recent development 
is an increasing desire to collect data and 
distribute this in the “Maritime Cloud”. 
However, this data cannot currently be 
used due to security reasons. In addition, 
much of the data required in order to be 
able to offer a complete service is still mis-
sing, but developments in this area are 
accelerating.

Nautical is focusing on developing its 
digital products and expanding its digital 
product portfolio. The concepts being 
developed are at the forefront of the gene-
ral developments in this area, but also lead 
to technical challenges within the processes. 
So far we have chosen to develop the 
solutions ourselves, but continually assess 
whether it is appropriate to engage partners 
in this process.

Important in 2015
Hong Kong continues to grow, and in 2015 
has established itself as the third largest 
sales location after Bristol and Oslo.
 
Even though the presence in Asia has been 
strengthened, Europe remains at the centre 
of activities.

Throughout the year, the continually 
weakening Norwegian krone resulted in 
increased operating expenses, and was one 
of the main reasons that the Nautical 
segment did not achieve a better profit 

Into 2016
Our global footprint has proven to be 
crucial in reaching new customers outside 
Norway, particularly in the UK and Hong 
Kong. When we see that the average 
consumption per ship is increasing again, 
the objective is to reach 4,000 ships as 
permanent customers.

The Nautical segment is also continuing 
to develop a new product area through the 
installation of printers at selected locations, 
which makes it possible to print a chart “on 
demand”. A total of eight EPOD printers 
have been installed around the world, 
enabling the local digital printing of charts. 
This has been done in order to reduce 
stocks of paper-based charts, to reach more 
customers with same-day delivery, and to 
extend the paper-based charts’ lifetime.
With EPOD, the Nautical segment will be 
able to directly compete with smaller 
regional agents.

REVENUE BY TYPE                         REVENUE BY AREA
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KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000*) 2015 2014 2013
Operating revenues  145 606  123 146  105 687 

Operating expenses  (151 347)  (130 788)  (117 084)

Operating profit/(loss)  (5 741)  (7 642)  (11 396)

Net financial items  (2 272)  (2 109)  (760)

Profit/(loss) before tax  (8 013)  (9 751)  (12 156)

*) These figures do not include amortisation on group goodwill.
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The Nautical Charts segment followed up the growth rate from 2014 with another good year for the top line in 2015. Revenues 
increased by 18 % to NOK 145.6 million, the highest level ever achieved. At the same time, the Norwegian krone continued to 
weaken throughout 2015, which impacted positively upon the top line, but posed challenges for the margins. The gross margins 
fluctuated, but the gross margin for the year as a whole returned to a satisfactory level. Profit growth was driven by growth in 
Europe and parts of Asia, while categories such as oil service and freight were challenging. The cost base relating to the operati-
on of the organisation increased as a result of digital development initiatives and a high level of sales activity. The operating pro-
fit increased, but finally amounted to a loss of NOK 5.7 million. This is the second year with improvements, but this was still 
not enough to achieve a satisfactory level of profitability. Going forward, efforts will be concentrated on digital products and 
distribution methods. In 2015, all significant digital publications were gathered together into a single tablet-based product, 
NaviTab, the only product of its kind in the world.
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A restless, expansive 
operation

Throughout its history, NHST has been on the move, setting  
up shop in many different places and often being among the  
pioneers in new real estate projects in the Norwegian capital. 
NHST was also early to establish international offices. The world’s 
leading port cities have also served as home bases for colonies  
of correspondents.
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IN 1915, NHST MOVED into a  
brand-new building in downtown 
Oslo called Sjøfartsbygningen,  
and stayed there for 70 years.  
The move came after the company 
had operated from six different  
locations since it was founded  
in 1889. The new building housed  
several other shipping- and maritime-
related businesses, in what was the 
capital’s biggest and most modern 
office complex.

NHST invested in its own offices in 
1985 and moved into the new Aker 
Brygge commercial and residential 
complex in Oslo that had been  
redeveloped on the site of the old 
Aker shipyard. Aker Brygge soon 
became a symbol of the “Young 
Urban Professional” (Yuppie) era 
amidst booming, and later 
crashing, stock markets.

Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende  
established a permanent office in London  
in 1923. Its first correspondent was Martin M 
Martinsen, who held the job for 30 years. In 
1990, NHST expanded and strengthened its 
presence in London with the establishment  
of TradeWinds, which eventually became the 
world’s largest supplier of shipping news.
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GREV WEDELS PLASS 9.  
After five years at Aker Brygge 
and five more expansive  
years in new offices at the  
office and retail complex Oslo 
City, where TradeWinds was 
founded, NHST moved in 
1994 to yet another shipping-
related office building. The 
next 15 years at Grev Wedels 
Plass 9 marked another era of 
expansion with the launch of 
newspaper Upstream, which 
now has 16 offices in Oslo, 
Stavanger, London, Moscow, 
Beirut, Baku, Accra, Singapore, 
New Delhi, Wellington, Perth, 
Houston, Calgary and Rio de 
Janeiro.

TODAY’S HEADQUARTERS 
in the Akerselva Atrium  
building in Oslo

NHST ASIA is  
based in Singapore 
and employs more 
than 50 people in 
the subsidiaries  
TradeWinds, 
Upstream, IntraFish, 
Mynewsdesk and 
Nautisk Forlag.

AS EARLY AS 1892, 
NHST had employed  
a correspondent in 
London to send  
shipping news directly 
to readers in Norway.
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“2015 was another challenging year for media  
organisations. Like many other companies, NHST 
felt the effects of changes in media consumption 
and the advertising market. The transition to  
digital media channels continued in 2015. At the 
same time, NHST also made progress in a number 
of areas. Revenues continued to increase despite 
the decline experienced by DN, and the profit
ability in 2015 was better than in the previous 
year. Total revenues amounted to NOK 1,272  
million, with an operating profit of NOK 13  
million and EBITDA of NOK 54 million.  
Measures and processes were implemented in 
2015, and continue into 2016, to ensure that all 
parts of the Group will contribute to the future 
profitability and value creation.”



32NHST MEDIA GROUP / 
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board of Directors’ Report 2015

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2015
The keyword in 2015 has been change. Changes to manage declin-
ing advertising revenues, to digitise products and product lines, to 
achieve additional growth in new revenue streams, and to address 
a macroeconomic situation that negatively impacted the publica-
tions and Nautical Charts. At the same time, changes on so many 
levels also trigger new opportunities, which the Group is currently 
working to exploit. 

In 2015, the DN segment was affected by the continued decline  
in the advertising market for newspapers. Print edition revenues 
declined and in the digital advertising market, there was stiff com-
petition from international players such as Facebook and Google. 
DN is responding by further developing its content base and distri-
bution platforms. DN Gründer, Smak and DN Investor are all new 
digital verticals developed throughout 2015 and launched just 
prior to or after year-end. In a challenging advertising market,  
subscription revenues are becoming increasingly important.  
Qualitatively good content, combined with user-friendly interfaces 
for the readers regardless whether they consume the content on 
print or digital platforms are important in this context. In 2015, 
substantial resources and efforts were therefore dedicated to devel-
oping the products, as well as the implementation of systems to 
analyse reader behaviour. In addition, the subscription products 
were changed in December, so that all of DN’s subscriptions now 
include digital products. Thus, readers have access to the content 
whenever, wherever and in whatever format they wish. 

For the Global segment, the year was also characterised by change. 
The businesses developed differently, but all contributed to the 
improved profitability. Changes made to and more effective work 
processes has led to staff reductions and improved financial perfor-
mance.  This work started back in 2014 and continued throughout 
2015. Further changes to achieve satisfactory profitability will be 
pursued through 2016, among others by creating further synergy 
effects between the businesses. This will also entail further invest-
ments in product development, not least digitally, as an important 

part of creating synergies throughout Global will be to bring all the 
publications on to the same digital platform. A new common digi-
tal platform, first rolled out in Tradewinds, will later also cover the 
other businesses. In May, NHST sold Fishing News UK – the first 
time that the Group has sold a publication – in order to focus on 
publications that are global or firmly rooted in Norway. 

Investments to achieve further fast growth continued in Direct 
Relations in 2015. To develop the market position in the two larg-
est European markets, Germany and the UK, has been central.  
Further investments in the product will lead to several new prod-
uct launches in 2016. Scandinavia remains the core market and the 
growth was significant in these markets throughout 2015. The 
media monitoring company Intermedium was acquired and inte-
grated to further strengthen the market position. Growth in core 
markets, high customer satisfaction and low customer churn 
formed the foundation for the increased growth rate in 2015. 

The Nautical Charts segment experienced both positive and negative 
developments. On one hand, there were growth in total revenues, 
revenue per ship and the number of customers. On the other, there 
was increasing price competition in certain markets combined with 
challenges in oil service and parts of the bulk segment. Profitability 
improved in 2015, but not enough to achieve overall profitability, 
nor to reach profitability objectives. The digital transformation in 
the market for navigation-related products continues. Nautical 
Charts aims to be at the forefront of these developments and the 
first complete portfolio of publications in an electronic format was 
launched in the spring of 2015 under the brand name NaviTab.

Beyond the four business segments, where Europower was included 
in Global from 2015, NHST also owns 35 % of Smartcom AS and 
34 % of Morgenbladet AS. Smartcom has been through a signifi-
cant restructuring process to adapt the organisation to the market, 
while Morgenbladet is one of just a few Norwegian publications 
that experienced growth in both revenues and profit in 2015.

2015 was another challenging year for media organisations. Like many 
other companies, NHST felt the effects of changes in media consumption 
and the advertising market. The transition to digital media channels  
continued in 2015. At the same time, NHST also made progress in a number 
of areas. Revenues continued to increase despite the decline experienced 
by DN, and the profitability in 2015 was better than in the previous year.  
Total revenues amounted to NOK 1,272 million, with an operating profit of 
NOK 13 million and EBITDA of NOK 54 million. Measures and processes 
were implemented in 2015, and continue into 2016, to ensure that all parts 
of the Group will contribute to the future profitability and value creation.
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OPERATING REVENUES

Operating revenues amounted to NOK 1,271.9 million. The decline in 
advertising revenues were 9 %, circulations revenues were flat, while 
media service revenues grew by 26 %. Overall, the Group had revenue 
growth of 3 %. 

For the year as a whole, DN was responsible for 51 % of the Group’s 
revenues. Advertising accounted for less than 30 % of the Group’s 
total revenues for the first time. Media service revenues accounted  
for 28 % and its growth compensated for the decline in advertising.  
Circulation revenues remained stable at around 43 % of total reve-
nues. The decrease in advertising revenues affected both DN and 
Global, and was a result of both structural and cyclical changes.  
The drop in the oil price was particularly important for DN and 
Upstream, while the digitisation and growth in programmatic adver-
tising affected the global media industry more structurally. However, 
the publications still achieved growth in their digital revenues com-
pared with the previous year. Combined with strong growth in Direct 
Relations this resulted in significant overall growth in the Group’s 
digital revenues. 

For the Group, two other items also affected revenues. Firstly, the 
Group passed on a lease agreement for office premises in London, 
which resulted in a net gain of NOK 11 million at group level, 
recorded as part of Other revenues. Secondly, the weakened Norwe-
gian krone throughout 2015 had a positive effect on the revenue  
figures for the global businesses, but negatively influenced the 
Group’s cost base, which increased. The net effect on the Group’s 
operating result was not significant. 

OPERATING EXPENSES
The Group’s operating expenses increased 1 % to NOK 1,258.9 million 
in 2015. A number of measures were implemented to reduce the 
Group’s cost base in line with market conditions. However, due to the 
weakened Norwegian krone, the effects did not impact the consolidated 
financial statements in the same way. Adjusted for an increase in the 
cost of goods sold in Nautical Charts, the acquisition of Intermedium 
and the planned growth in Direct Relations, the Group’s cost base was 
down 3 %, or NOK 38 million. Based on the current revenue trends, 
there is a need for continued adjustments to the Group’s cost base.  

The consolidated expenses are charged with goodwill amortisation of 
NOK 14.4 million, which is NOK 4 million less than in the previous 
year. There have been no extraordinary write-downs of assets in the 
consolidated financial statements for 2015, while the parent compa-
ny’s investment in Recharge was written down to zero. 

OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS
The operating profit for 2015 was NOK 13 million. This was an 
improvement of NOK 23 million on the previous year, but includes 
the sale of the lease agreement in London of net NOK 11 million. All 
the Group’s business segments improved their profitability, with the 
exception of DN. The largest improvement was in Global.  DN 
remains the largest contributor the Group’s profit and further 
improvements are needed in the Group’s other businesses. 

EBITDA increased by NOK 20 million, thereby developing in line 
with the operating profit and thus following the same pattern as 
seen over the past few years. The decline in goodwill amortisation 
has been replaced by increased amortisation of capitalised develop-
ment costs. Other investments remain relatively stable. 

NOK ’000 2015 2014

Revenues 1 271 925  1 235 360 

Expenses 1 258 910  1 245 676 

Operating profit/(loss) 13 015 (10 316)

64 %23 %

6 %
7 %

2015

68 %20 %

5,5 %
6,5 %

2014

58 %29 %

6 %
7 %

2015

56 %30 %

6 %

8 %

2014

REVENUES BY REGION
NORWAY EUROPE AMERICAS ASIA & OCEANIA

NUMBER OF FTES PER REGION
NORWAY EUROPE AMERICAS ASIA & OCEANIA

Earnings (NOK ’000) 2015 2014

EBITDA 54 231  34 169 

EBITA 44 012  23 838 

EBIT 13 015 (10 316)

EBT 6 524 (14 671)
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The year’s result from financial items was a loss of NOK 6.5 mil-
lion. Exchange rate fluctuations are the main underlying factor 
affecting net financial items. The Group has relatively significant 
positions and activities in foreign currency. Other financial 
expenses in the form of transaction costs are also significant as  
a result of the extensive global activities. With the current low 
interest rates, the return on net excess liquidity is relatively low. 

Profit after tax was NOK 5.9 million. The Group has a tax liability 
despite the operating loss due to its activities abroad and profit and 
loss elements without tax credits in the consolidated accounts.

CASH FLOW
The cash flow from operating activities was NOK 77.9 million, an 
improvement on the previous year’s cash flow of NOK 30 million. 
The cash flow from operations was 144 % of EBITDA, and thus  
significantly improved following a decline to only 68 % in the  
previous year. In addition to the operating result, the cash flow 
from operations was primarily affected by an increase in prepaid 
subscriptions and reduced accounts receivables. Pension premiums 
for the defined benefit pension schemes are increasing.

Investing activities contributed a negative cash flow of NOK 59.2 
million. Investments in intangible assets are increasing and 
amounted to NOK 29.2 million in 2015. In total, the cash outflow 
from investing activities was NOK 14 million higher than in the 
previous year. 

The cash flow from financing activities was NOK 1.4 million in 
2015. No dividends were paid and no further external loans were 
entered into in 2015. The Group’s overdraft facility with DNB was 
renegotiated and has a limit of NOK 100 million, given an equity  
of at least NOK 80 million. Beyond the NOK 50 million loan related 
to the purchase of Mynewsdesk in 2013, the facility has not been 
utilised. 

RETURNS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
No dividends were paid in 2015 based on 2014, and no dividends 
have been allocated for 2015. 

Based on the number of outstanding shares, the earnings per share 
were NOK 4.96, which is an increase of NOK 26. The development 
in earnings per share is in line with the development in operations. 
The net cash flow per share was NOK 13.9, which is also an 
improvement of NOK 33. 

The Group’s average capital employed was NOK 126.3 million in 
2015, compared with NOK 133.8 million in the previous year.  
The return on capital employed was 8.2 %, which corresponds to 
an improvement in line with the operating result. The Group’s  
consolidated balance sheet value increased somewhat throughout 
2015 as a result of higher prepaid subscriptions and foreign cur-
rency effects. 

At year-end, the Group’s equity was NOK 111.8 million, which  
corresponds to an equity ratio of 18 %, equal to the previous  
year-end. The equity ratio now largely follows the operating profit/
loss and balance sheet fluctuations.

The liquidity ratio was 0.72 as at year-end 2015, a decline of 0.05 com-
pared with the previous year. The Group’s liquidity is satisfactory, and 
cash holdings amounted to NOK 183.5 million as at year-end.

THE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

DN 

In 2015, the DN segment continued to experience revenue  
challenges. Total revenues fell 5 %, primarily due to a decline  
in advertising revenues with 10 %. 

Print advertising in particular declined, despite an increase in 
advertising revenues in D2, which experienced its best year ever in 
terms of revenues. Digital advertising revenue increased in 2015, 
but the market is fast changing affected by the growth of program-
matic advertising. Large global players like Facebook and Google 
are increasingly becoming strong competitors also in local markets, 
not least as a result of pricing models at far lower levels than they 
used to be. However, DN’s readership continues to be very attrac-
tive to the advertising market, and advertising revenues amounted 
to NOK 266.0 million in 2015.

Circulation continued to fall slightly in 2015, while circulation  
revenues were down 3 % to NOK 365.6 million. Single copy and 
bulk sales were down, while subscription revenues remained  
stable. Weekend and digital products continued to grow, while 
weekly print-only products experienced a small decline. Following 
the change to provide all subscription types with access to the  
digital products, the distinction between digital and print subscrip-
tion revenue has been largely eliminated. TDN Finans, which is 
included in the circulation revenues, exhibited a small growth  
in 2015. 

DN achieved an operating margin of just under 8 % in 2015, after 
having maintained an operating margin of just above 8 % in 2014. 

Profitability 2015 2014
Dividend per share 0,00 0,00

Earnings per share 4,96 (21,22)

ROACE 10,3 % (7,7 %)

Cash flow per share 13,87 (19,37)

NOK ‘000 2015 2014
Operating revenues 646 798 681 237

Operating expenses*) (597 517) 624 069

Operating profit/(loss) 49 281 57 168
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill

Cash flows (NOK ’000) 2015 2014

From operating activities 77 852 29 974

From investing activities (59 171) (45 355)

From financing activities (1 433) (8 702)

Net cash flow 17 249 (24 083)

Margins 2015 2014

EBITDA margin 4,3 % 2,8 %

EBIT margin 1,0 % (0,8 %)
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Measures were implemented throughout the year to compensate 
for the decline in revenues. Combined with the reduction in print 
and distribution costs, this gave a full year operating profit of NOK 
49.2 million, a decrease of NOK 8 million on the previous year. 

Digitisation continued with increasing pace, both in terms of con-
tent production and the subsequent presentation of DN’s content 
on digital platforms. An important area of prioritisation in 2015 
has been increased use of reader-data analytics combined with  
several major and minor improvements in the digital products.  

The collaboration with Morgenbladet continued throughout the 
year. NHST chose to exercise the option to acquire 90.1 % of the 
shares in Morgenbladet in the first quarter of 2016. Throughout 
2015, Morgenbladet was reported as an associated company in  
the consolidated accounts.  

Global

There was improvement in Global in 2015 as a result of increased 
revenues and a restructuring of the organisation. Revenues 
amounted to NOK 323.3 million, an increase of 5 %. The operating 
profit was NOK 18.6 million, which was an improvement on the 
previous year. From 2015, Europower has also been included in 
this business segment. Operating revenues include the gain of 
MNOK 11 from the sale of the lease agreement in London.  
Both expenses and revenues were affected by the weakened  
Norwegian krone. Underlying development, excluding these  
two elements, showed a decrease in revenues of 7 %, while 
expenses were down 8 %. 

Advertising revenues in Global were down 8 % to NOK 111.3  
million, which is a similar decrease to that experienced by DN. 
However, there were differences between the publications. 
TradeWinds experienced growth, while the other organisations 
generally experienced a decline in advertising revenues. In Global, 
the distinction between effects from the economic downturn or 
the structural changes are less clear. The drop in oil prices 
undoubtedly had a direct impact on Upstream, while Intrafish was 
affected by declining economic activity in Norway, and to some 
extent by the sale of Fishing News in the middle of the year. 

Circulation revenues in Global were up 8 % to NOK 178 million. 
Intrafish was slightly down, but the other publications all achieved 
growth. Price and currency effects were the primary reasons for 
the improvement, the underlying number of subscribers did not 
increase to the same extent. 

Total costs in Global were down 1 % in 2015. A number of meas-
ures to improve both short- and long-term profitability were imple-
mented, but the effects did not materialise to the same extent in 
the consolidated accounts due to the weakened Norwegian kroner. 
Cost curbing measures were implemented in each of the organisa-
tions, but at the same time, Global also strengthened its digital and 
business development capacity. 

There was profitability improvements in Global, also excluding 
one-time and currency effects. Improvements were made in 
Upstream and TradeWinds, while Intrafish and Recharge were 
down and Europower was flat-lined.  Despite the improvement, 
overall profitability from the operations remain unsatisfactory. 

Direct Relations

The Direct Relations segment increased its growth rate to 38 % in 
2015. This was a higher growth rate than experienced in the  
previous year. On a comparable basis, where the effects of the 
acquired Intermedium and the currency fluctuations are excluded, 
the growth was still above 25 %. The majority of the activities  
continues to be in Scandinavia, particularly in Sweden. 

Overall, the cost base increased in line with the increased revenues. 
The sales model continues to be employee intensive, despite 
becoming more scalable in the established markets. The initiatives 
undertaken in Germany and the UK continued to affect the opera-
tions negatively in financial terms in 2015, but these effects are 
expected to reduce as the market positions improve. 

Significant focus was placed on product development throughout 
2015, which has resulted in increased intangible assets and prod-
uct development costs. Capitalised intangible assets were NOK 
28.7 million at year-end, up from NOK 13.2 million at the previous 
year-end. 

The operating result improved by NOK 1.4 million or 2 % com-
pared with the previous year. A continued operating loss however, 
of NOK 10.4 million, reflects the focus on continued fast growth  
as well as business and market development. 

Nautical Charts

For the global operations in the Nautical Charts segment, 2015 was 
a year of ups and downs. Revenues continued to increase for the 
third year running, and the growth rate of 18 % reflects an 
increase in the market share. The gross margin also stabilised at a 
higher level than in the previous year, but the sales volume was 
not enough to achieve overall profitability.  Nautical Charts is 
doing well in Europe and parts of Asia, but still has challenges 
relating to volume, margins and profitability in other parts of the 
world. There were also areas with significant competitive pressure 
that had a negative impact on the operating result in 2015.

The cost base reflects the continued emphasis on digital develop-
ment and the commercial launch of the NaviTab product. For a 
global organisation with the majority of its activities in foreign 

NOK ‘000 2015 2014
Operating revenues 323 348 306 624

Operating expenses*) (304 724) (307 499)

Operating profit/(loss) 18 624 (875)
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill

NOK ‘000 2015 2014
Operating revenues 154 482 111 780

Operating expenses*) (164 925) (123 624)

Operating profit/(loss) (10 443) (11 844)
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill

NOK ‘000 2015 2014
Operating revenues 145 606 123 146

Operating expenses*) (151 347) (130 788)

Operating profit/(loss) (5 741) (7 642)
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill
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currencies, the weakened Norwegian krone gave a positive impact 
on revenues, but negatively affected expenses. 

The operating loss of NOK 7.6 million in the previous year 
decreased to an operating loss of NOK 5.7 million in 2015, an 
improvement of 25 %. However, this was not enough to achieve 
satisfactory profitability, but measures have been implemented 
that will have an effect going forward. 

Other

Following the divestment of Smartcom in 2014, and the grouping 
of Europower in Global, only the parent company remains in this 
part of the Group. The parent company’s revenues are primarily 
internal, while the cost base consists of resources used to provide 
services to the rest of the Group. The costs and level of activity in 
the parent company were somewhat higher than in the previous 
year, but the operating loss for the segment was reduced as a result 
of the changed accounting for Smartcom. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group’s strategic risk is primarily linked to the digitisation  
of the media industry, which leads to significant changes to both 
media consumption and advertising. The Group monitors these 
changes closely, both nationally and internationally, and makes  
regular adjustments to the products accordingly. Furthermore, 
some of the operations are exposed to more specific types of risk. 
These may vary from regulatory changes in the shipping industry 
and the level of press subsidies for the FiskeribladetFiskaren to 
more industry-related changes such as the transition to digital 
charts and periodicals for Nautical Charts. These risks are signifi-
cant for the individual businesses, but not for the Group as a 
whole. Other than this, the Group does not operate in markets, 
which are subject to specific regulatory risk.

The Group is also exposed to various types of operational risk in  
its normal operations, but given the nature of the Group’s activi-
ties, financial risk is the most significant. Management regularly 
prepares operating reports for the Board. The Group’s overall  
financial risk profile is discussed annually by the Board in its meet-
ing with the Group’s auditor. An Audit Committee has also been 
formed and risk management is part of its mandate.

In the short term, unpredictable advertising markets in particular, 
along with technical service disruptions and distribution, consti-
tute the most significant risk elements. Systems have been imple-
mented in order to monitor and manage such situations. 

The Group is also exposed to risks associated with conducting  
business activities in several foreign currencies. This risk is 
assessed on a regular basis, and the Group has a set policy of  
hedging parts of its currency exposure by means of currency 
futures based on expected cash flows for the next 12 months  
from year-end. Currency hedging as at 31.12 is described in more 
detail in the notes to the financial statements. 

The Group has a relatively diverse customer portfolio, and thus 
credit risk related to it. The Group has credit insurance for its larg-
est customers in the Norwegian market. The majority of the 
Group’s activities are included in a common consolidated bank 
account with centralised liquidity management. 

TECHNOLOGY, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Group has no expenses or activities that classify as research 
and development. 

However, the Group does invest resources in developing its digital 
activities and technologies, as well as distribution platforms. This 
applies not only to the publishing activities, but also to the Group’s 
other operations. 

The digital development activities are managed through a matrix 
organisation, in which the delivery organisation is structured as a 
common corporate function with a few exceptions, while product 
development is a line management activity within the operations. 
Direct Relations has a dedicated development setup in Stockholm. 

Parts of the development costs are capitalised in the balance  
sheet as intangible assets. As at 31.12, this amounted to a capital-
ised value of NOK 64.6 million, compared to NOK 52.2 million  
in the previous year, but NOK 3.6 million of the increase relates  
to acquisitions. This type of intangible assets is usually depreciated 
over a period of three to five years.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
The Group seeks to undertake HSE activities under the auspices  
of the working environment committee, recreational and sports 
teams and the HR department. To this extent, the cooperation  
with the employee organisations is satisfactory. 

Absence due to sickness was 3.5 % of total working time for the 
Group as a whole. This was a small overall improvement on the  
figure for 2014. The corresponding rate was 4.4 % among employ-
ees in Norway, and 3.5 % among employees in the parent company. 
This was a significant reduction from the previous year, and is pri-
marily due to a reduction in long-term sick leave. The Group con-
siders its working environment to be good. Measures are continu-
ally implemented in order to reduce absences due to sickness. No 
accidents were reported during the year. The figure for the revious 
year was also zero. The Group’s normal activities have a relatively 
low accident risk. 

NHST Media Group has employees at more than 30 offices in both 
Norway and abroad, of which the largest offices located outside 
Norway are in London, Stockholm, Singapore and Houston. The 
Group complies with the individual countries’ legislation and rules 
relating to HSE. 

The Group aims to ensure that employees of both genders are able 
to balance their work and private life. In 2015 a total of 38 employ-
ees took a voluntary leave of absence, of which, 19 were women. 

HUMAN RELATIONS AND EQUAL OPORTUNITES
Multiple nationalities are represented within the Group, both in 
Norway and abroad, and there is effective collaboration between 
the Group’s employees. The Group has a recruitment and HR  
policy that ensures equal opportunities and rights.

NOK ‘000 2015 2014
Operating revenues 88 248 98 038

Operating expenses*) (114 042) (127 947)

Operating profit/(loss) (25 794) (29 909)
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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In 2015, NHST Media Group had an average of 728 employees 
(715 FTEs), of which 291 were female. At year-end, the Group had 
727 employees, of which, 689 were employed in full-time positions. 
NHST Media Group also had 38 part-time employees in 2015.

At year-end 2015, the Group’s Board of Directors had five share-
holder-elected members, three women and two men. The Group’s 
management consisted of one female and six men in 2015. Men, 
with one exception, head all the subsidiaries. The Group has aimed 
to facilitate part-time work in positions where this is possible. 
There is a slightly higher representation of women over men in 
part-time positions and in absences due to illness. 

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
The Group does not manufacture goods or offer services that  
utilise environmentally hazardous input factors. Dagens Næring-
sliv, the only newspaper owned by the Group that has a significant 
single copy sales volume, collects unsold newspapers through the 
company AS Avisretur, which sends the newspapers for recycling. 
All office machines taken out of service are disposed of in accord-
ance with regulations. All the publications purchase printing ser-
vices from external suppliers. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
NHST Media Group seeks to follow the Oslo Stock Exchange’s  
recommendations regarding corporate governance. Brief com-
ments on key factors and any deviations from the recommenda-
tions are provided below. 

The Company’s annual general meeting is open to all approved 
shareholders and all approved shares carry equal voting rights. 
Any shareholder may participate in the annual general meeting in 
person or by proxy. It is not possible to attend and/or vote via the 
Internet. There is only a single class of shares, and each share  
entitles the shareholder to one vote at the annual general meeting. 
The shares may be freely transferred; however, the Board may 
refuse the transfer of shares when reasonable grounds exist. The 
right to refuse an acquisition of shares is based on the need for 
editorial and commercial independence, but represents a deviation 
from the recommendations for good corporate governance.

The Board of Directors held seven meetings in 2015. The Board 
receives regular consolidated reports that contain financial infor-
mation about the Group and the Group’s individual companies. 
The board also receives regular updates from management regard-
ing current trends and developments. The Company’s strategy is 
broadly reviewed at an extended board meeting each year. The 
Board has two sub-committees, the remuneration committee and 
the audit committee. NHST also has a nomination committee. 
NHST Media Group AS does not have a corporate assembly.

The Annual General Meeting determines the remuneration  
payable to board members annually. In 2015, the remuneration 
amounted to NOK 985,000 in line with the remuneration paid in 

ESPEN LINDERUD

FRANK JANSEN

ANNE BRITT 
BERENTSEN

CARL JOACHIM BERNER

RICHARD OLAV AA
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN OF 

THE BOARD

ANETTE S. OLSEN
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

KIMBERLY  
LEIN-MATHISEN

ROBERT RUST
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Full-time equivalents 2015 2014
DN 238 245

Global 221 225

Direct Relations 185 167

Nautical Charts 54 49

Other 40 58
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the previous years. The board regularly evaluates the Group’s 
remuneration systems for senior executives. The Group wishes  
to attract competent employees with relevant experience, and 
therefore aims to maintain a competitive system of remuneration. 

A complete review of the Norwegian Code of Practise for Corpo-
rate Governance related to the Group can be found under Share-
holder Information in the Annual Report.

PROSPECTS FOR 2016
The Group’s overall profitability improved in 2015, but remain 
unsatisfactory. All the business segments achieved improved profit-
ability, with the exception of DN. The Group continues to have a 
large proportion of relatively fixed costs, which do not change in 
line with rapid revenue changes. The overall objective is that all 
companies in the group shall satisfactory contribute in terms of 
both profitability and value creation. The primary focus is there-
fore on profitable growth, except for operations where longer term 
profitability and value creation depend more on increasing market 
shares than maximising short-term profitability. 

The macroeconomic situation for media companies has not 
changed significantly over the past couple of years. The share of 
advertising revenues is declining, and rapid digitisation of media 
publications and other services is increasing the pressure on exist-
ing business models. On the other hand, good market positions are 
still exploitable in order to increase both revenues and profitability. 
Print edition products continue to be important for NHST’s reve-
nues and profitability, but significant efforts and resources are 
directed at digital development. There is still uncertainty surround-
ing some of the markets in which the Group operates, but the 
Group’s competitive position is expected to be good. 

ANNUAL PROFIT/LOSS AND ALLOCATIONS
The parent company is a holding company, and generated revenues 
of NOK 87.7 million in 2015, which is in line with the result for the 
previous year. Of the total revenues, NOK 82.9 million was from 
group services. 

The operating loss was NOK 25.7 million, compared with NOK 
23.7 million for the previous year. Net financial items amounted to 
a negative NOK 14.4 million, compared with positive NOK 21.6 
million in the previous year. The variations in net financial items 
from one year to the next are a result of the level of group contri-
butions received from the subsidiaries. 

Tax costs for the year was an income of NOK 6.5 million as a result 
of the operating loss, while the net tax payable was NOK 0 million. 
It is proposed that NHST Media Group AS’s loss for the year of 
NOK 33.6 million after tax are covered as follows (figures in NOK 
1,000) 

Allocated for dividends *)                                                                    0
Transferred from other equity (33 628)
Total allocations (33 628)
*) not including own shares  

The total equity was NOK 38.4 million, compared with NOK 72.0 
million for the previous year. The equity ratio is 7 %, compared 
with 17 % for the previous year. The board recommends that no 
dividend is paid for the financial year 2015. 

GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared based on  
a going-concern assumption. This assessment is based on the 
Group’s expectations for 2016 and a satisfactory cash position.  
It is the opinion of the Board of Directors that the Annual 
Accounts give a true and fair view of NHST Media Group’s assets 
and liabilities, financial position and profit/loss for 2015.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group increased its 
shareholdings in Morgenbladet to 90.1 %, and sold its shares in 
TDN Finans og Intstream. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Gunnar Bjørkavåg
CEO

Anette S. Olsen
Chairman of the Board

Kimberly Lein-Mathisen

Anne Britt BerentsenRichard Olav Aa
Deputy Chairman of the Board

Robert RustEspen Linderud Frank Jansen

Carl Joachim Berner

Oslo, 25th April 2016
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 NHST MEDIA GROUP AS In NOK 1 000 GROUP

2013 2014 2015 Note 2015 2014 2013

Operating revenue and expenses

0 0 0 Sales revenue 2  1 222 357  1 209 139  1 215 362 

 82 098  88 379  87 710 Other operating income 2  49 568  26 221  21 473 

82 098 88 379 87 710 Total operating revenues  1 271 925 1 235 360 1 236 835

4 38 23 Cost of goods and services sold 3  350 746  359 843  352 530 

 50 232  47 439  49 678 Personnel costs 4,6  606 407  592 808  569 343 

 6 150  7 473  8 137 Ordinary depreciation/amortisation 7  41 215  44 485  43 637 

 48 780  57 106  55 617 Other operating expenses 4,5  260 540  248 540  262 258 

105 166 112 056 113 455 Total operating expenses 1 258 910 1 245 676 1 227 768

 (23 068)  (23 677)  (25 745) Operating profit (loss) 13 015 (10 316) 9 067

Financial income and expenses

42 870 43 351 0 Income from investments in subsidiaries 8 0 0 0 

0  (218) 164 Income from investments in associated companies 9 164 (218) 0

 (9 332)  (7 046)  (7 987) Interest paid to other group companies 0 0 0

2 684 1 887 1 498 Interest income 2 476  3 054  3 685 

361 57 826 Other financial income 18 160  19 099  14 139 

 (7 303) (13 637)  (4 365) Impairment of financial assets 8 0  (2 928)  (4 000)

 (1 149)  (1 498)  (1 762) Interest expenses  (2 213)  (1 665)  (1 250)

 (2 722)  (1 312)  (2 751) Other financial expenses 18  (7 079)  (21 697)  (16 074)

 25 409 21 584  (14 376) Net financial items  (6 492)  (4 355)  (3 500)

 

2 341  (2 093)  (40 122) Profit/(loss) before tax 6 524 (14 671) 5 567

 (2 890)  (3 183) 6 495 Tax expense (-)/income 12  (580)  (10 345)  (13 726)

 (549)  (5 277)  (33 628) Profit/(loss) for the year 5 944 (25 015) (8 159)

The minority interests’ share of the profit (loss) 
for the year 116 1 364 1 256

The majority interests’ share of the profit/
(loss) for the year

5 828 (26 379) (9 415)

Transfers and allocations:

8 702 0 0 Proposed dividend

 (9 252)  (5 277)  (33 628) Transferred to/(from) other equity

 (550)  (5 277)  (33 628)

Profit and loss account
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Balance sheet at 31 December

BALANCE SHEET

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS In NOK 1 000 GROUP

2013 2014 2015 ASSETS Note 2015 2014 2013

Fixed assets

Intangible assets:

 9 261  14 345  15 195 Other intangible assets 7  64 608  52 295  42 635 

 3 201  2 339  8 834 Deferred tax assets 12 11 397 763 7 031 

0 0 0 Goodwill 7  61 687  76 123  94 829 

12 462 16 684 24 028 137 692 129 182 144 494

Tangible fixed assets:

 Land and buildings 7

15 727 14 713 17 833 Cars, machinery and equipement 7 29 151 23 901 26 681

Financial fixed asset:

 167 641  178 051  192 179 Investments in subsidiaries 8 0 0 0 

 1 393  6 456  5 611 Investments in shares and associated co’s 9  6 161  6 456  1 393 

2 710 5 074 8 361 Pension assets 6  82 793  61 499  43 889 

 5 816  5 816  6 316 Other long-term receivables 10  12 810  8 604  7 983 

 9 174  9 232  14 622 Inter-company loan 10 0 0 0 

186 735 204 629 227 089 101 764 76 559 53 265

214 923 236 025 268 950 Total fixed assets 268 605 229 642 224 441

Current assets:

0 0 0 Inventories  25 542  24 905  23 390

Receivables:

18 871 11 Trade account receivables 10  120 452  133 344  118 677 

 142 964  140 764  97 828 Inter-company receivables 10 0 0 0 

 12 505  11 036  12 675 Other short-term receivables 10  28 947  25 659  30 448 

155 487 152 670 110 514 149 399  159 003  149 125

Cash and cash equivalents:

 114 041  88 027 105 197 Cash and bank deposits 11 183 527  166 279  190 362

269 528 240 697 215 710 Total current assets 358 468 350 187 362 877

484 451 476 723 484 660 TOTAL ASSETS 627 073 579 829 587 318
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS In NOK 1 000 GROUP

2013 2014 2015 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2015 2014 2013

Equity

Paid in capital:

12 879 12 879 12 879 Share capital 13,16 12 879 12 879 12 879 

 (448)  (448)  (448) Own shares 13 (448) (448) (448)

50 551 50 551 50 551 Share premium reserve 13  50 551  50 551  50 551 

62 983 62 983 62 983 62 983 62 983 62 983

Retained earnings:

14 304 9 028 (24 600) Other equity 13 36 780  27 146  49 426

0 0 0 Minority interest 13 12 030 11 914 15 156

77 287 72 011 38 383 Total equity 111 793 102 043 127 565

Liabilities

Non current liabilities:

5 513 5 978 6 530 Pension liabilities 6 16 490 15 486 14 494 
0 0 0 Deferred tax 14 2 675  4 082  3 964 

5 513 5 978 6 530 19 165  19 568  18 458

Current liabilities:

 3 226  2 381  2 833 Trade accounts payable 40 921  45 252  44 246 

0 0 0 Advance payments from customers 277 855  237 162  212 952 

 325 330  327 351  377 101 Inter-company liabilities 14 0 0 0 

2 443 2 304 0 Income tax payable 12 561  5 663  3 900 

 4 141  3 474  3 282 Unpaid govt. charges and special taxes 11 46 038 37 794 41 010 

8 702 0 0 Accrued dividend 13 0 0 8 702 

50 000 50 000 50 000 Debt to financial institutions 14 50 000 50 000 50 000

 7 810  13 224  6 532 Other current liabilities 14 80 742 82 348  80 486 

 401 651  398 735 439 746 496 116 458 218 441 296

407 164 404 712 446 277 Total liabilities 515 281 477 786 459 754

484 451 476 723 484 660 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 627 073 579 829 587 318

Gunnar Bjørkavåg
CEO

Anette S. Olsen
Chairman of the Board

Oslo, 25th April 2016

Kimberly Lein-Mathisen

Anne Britt BerentsenRichard Olav Aa
Deputy Chairman of the Board

Robert RustEspen Linderud Frank Jansen

Carl Joachim Berner
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash flow statement

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS In NOK 1 000 GROUP

2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2 341  (2 093)  (40 122) Profit before tax 6 524  (14 671) 5 567 

0  (2 460)  (2 321) Tax paid  (5 663)  (3 900)  (3 287)

 (95) 0 0 Gain on sale of operating assets 0 90  (708)

6 150 7 473 8 136 Ordinary depreciation 41 215 44 485 43 637 

 (42 870) (43 351) 0 Income from investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 

7 303 13 445 4 204 Impairment of financial assets 0 3 180 4 000 

0 0 0 Changes in inventories  (637)  (1 515)  (6 893)

13  (853) 381 Changes in trade accounts receivable 12 892  (14 667) 3 742 

 (59)  (845) 482 Changes in trade accounts payable  (4 331) 1 006 5 290 

0 0 0 Changes in advances from customers 45 162 24 209 2 517 

115  (1 957)  (2 735) Net cash contribution to pension plans  (20 254)  (16 654)  (12 460)

0 0 0 Translation differences 3 815 4 217  (870)

 (13 020) 12 160  (13 128) Changes in other accruals and liabilities  (870) 4 194 7 454

(40 121) (18 481) (45 103) Net cash flow from operating activities 77 853 29 974 47 989

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

555 0 0 Cash from sale of assets 0 90 579 

79 000 0 0 Cash return from other investments 0 0 0 

 (8 592)  (12 841)  (6 190) Purchase of tangible fixed assets  (55 859)  (40 946)  (29 173)

 (25 686)  (24 360) 0 Group internal financing 0 0 0 

24 842 42 870 43 351 Received group contributions and dividend 0 0 0

 (71 528) 0  (17 140) Share investments in subsidiaries 0 0  (71 528)

0  (4 499) 42 252 Other investments  (3 312)  (4 499)  0

(1 410) 1 170 62 273 Net cash flow from investing activities ( 59 171)  (45 355)  (100 122)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 (13 675)  (8 702) 0 Payment of dividend 0  (8 702)  (13 675)

0 0 0 Amount received as new equity from minority 0 0 0 

50 000 0 0 Changes in other financial items (1 433) 0 51 436 

36 325 (8 702) 0 Net cash flow from financing activities (1 433)  (8 702)  37 761

(5 206) (26 013) 17 170 Net change in cash and cash equivalents 17 248 (24 083) (14 372)

119 247 114 041 88 027 Cash and cash equivalents held 1.1 166 279 190 362 204 734

114 041 88 027 105 197 Cash and cash equivalents held 31.12 183 527 166 279 190 362
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The annual accounts have been prepared in  
accordance with the Accounting Act of 1998 
and generally accepted accounting principles 
in Norway.

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
NHST Media Group AS (NHST) is a holding 
company that provides administrative services 
to all its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated accounts include NHST and 
subsidiaries in which NHST owns, directly or  
indirectly, more than 50 % of the share capital. 
All the Group companies adhere to the same 
accounting principles. All significant transactions 
and inter-company balances between compa-
nies in the Group have been eliminated. Invest-
ments in associated companies are accounted 
for according to the equity method, both in 
the parent and consolidated accounts.

Foreign subsidiaries’ profit and loss accounts 
are translated using the average exchange rate 
for the period, while the balance sheet is trans-
lated at the exchange rate applicable on the 
balance sheet date. Translation differences are 
recognised through equity.

Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated in the 
 consolidated accounts using the acquisition 
method. This means that the acquired company’s 
identified assets and liabilities are valued at  
their fair value on the acquisition date and any 
remaining surplus price is classified as good-
will. For partly owned subsidiaries, only NHST’s 
share of the goodwill is included in the balance 
sheet.

OPERATING REVENUES
Advertising revenues are recognised as income 
at the time the advertisements are published. 
They are recorded net of commissions, dis-
counts and complaints. Subscription revenues 
are billed and paid in advance, but are recog-
nised as income on a straight-line basis over 
the  subscription period. Income from the sale 
of goods and services is recognised as income 
when the goods is delivered. Income from 
 services provided is recognised in accordance 
with their delivery schedule.

COST
Costs are recorded during the same period as 
the revenues associated with them. In those 
cases where there is no clear link between cost 

and revenue, costs are distributed according to 
a discretionary criterion. 

ASSESSMENT AND CLASSIFICATION  
OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets intended for permanent ownership or 
use are classified as fixed assets. Other assets 
are classified as current assets. Receivables  
falling due within one year are always classified 
as current assets. Similar criteria apply to the 
classification of current liabilities. 

Fixed assets are valued at their acquisition 
cost less depreciation but are written down  
to their fair value if the impairment in value is 
considered permanent. Fixed assets with a 
 limited useful economic life are subject to 
scheduled depreciation.

Current assets are recorded at the lower of  
their acquisition cost and fair value. Current 
 liabilities are recorded at the nominal amount 
received at the time the liability was established.

Certain items are assessed according to other 
rules, an account of which is given below:

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The costs of creating intangible assets are  
capitalised in the balance sheet when it is  
more probable than not that a future financial 
benefit will accrue from the asset and when 
the cost can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets acquired individually are  
recorded at their acquisition price. Intangible 
assets acquired when a company is purchased 
are recorded at their acquisition cost when  
the criterion for capitalisation has been met. 
 Intangible assets with a limited useful economic 
life are subject to scheduled depreciation. In-
tangible assets are written-down to their fair 
value if the expected financial benefits are  
not at least equal to the value recorded in the  
balance sheet and any remaining production 
costs.

Ordinary depreciation of intangible assets:
Goodwill: 5 to 10 years
Other intangible assets: 3 to 10 years
The Company has chosen to amortise some of 
its goodwill over a period of more than 5 years. 
An amortisation period beyond 5 years is chosen 
to reflect the operations in the related subsidiary. 
Companies in a development phase will not 

reach their potential, return and cash flow  
within a 5 year period from the acquisition 
date. Thus, a longer amortisation period has 
been chosen to better reflect the operations. 

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their 
expected useful economic life. Ordinary depre-
ciation follows a straight-line basis over the 
 following periods: 

Vehicles: 5 years
Fixtures and office equipment: 5 to 10 years
IT equipment and systems: 3 to 5 years
Upgrade office premises: over the rental  
 period, note 7

SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES
Investments in subsidiaries are valued according 
to the cost method. The investments are written 
down to their fair value if the impairment is 
considered permanent. Dividends and group 
contributions received from the subsidiaries 
are recorded as other financial income in the 
parent. 

Investments in associated companies are  
accounted for based on the equity method, 
both in the parent and consolidated accounts. 

Other shares classified as fixed assets are 
 companies where NHST is deemed to have  
no significant influence and they are recorded  
in the balance sheet at their acquisition cost. 
These investments are written down to their 
fair value if the impairment is considered 
 permanent. Dividends received from the 
 companies are taken to income as other 
 financial income.

Investments in associated companies are  
accounted for based on the equity method, 
both in the parent and consolidated accounts.

PENSIONS
When accounting for defined benefit pension 
plans, the liability is charged to expenses over 
the service period in accordance with the 
plan’s vesting formula. The allocation method 
corresponds to the plan’s vesting formula, unless 
most of the vesting takes place towards the end 
of the service period, in which case straight-line 
accrual is used. 

Notes 1 

NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
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Notes  
1 / 2 / 3 / 14

 NHST  GROUP

2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013
0 0 0 Advertising 377 184 416 200 455 490 

0 0 0 Circulation 548 030 541 286 531 868 

0 0 0 Other sales income 297 143 251 653 228 004 

0 0 0 Total sales revenues 1 222 357 1 209 139 1 215 362

  

95 0 0 Gain on sale of operating assets 0 90 699 

79 297 82 948 82 852 Sales to group companies 0 0 0 

0 0 0 Print media subsidy 6 077 7 357 5 776 

2 706 5 431 4 858 Other operating income 43 491 18 774 14 998 

82 098 88 379 87 710 Total other operating income 49 568 26 221 21 473

NOTE 2 | OPERATING REVENUE    Figures in NOK 1 000

Deviations in the estimates and effects of 
changes in the assumptions are amortised  
over the expected remaining service period  
to the extent that they exceed 10 % of the pen-
sion liabilities or the pension assets, whichever 
is the higher (corridor). The 
effect of changes to the pension plans with  
a retro active effect that are not conditional  
on  future employment is  included in the  
profit and loss account  immediately. Changes to 
plans with a retro active effect that are 
 conditional on  future employment are 
 amortised on a straight line basis over  
the period until the benefit is no longer  
conditional on future  employment. 

The net pension liability is the difference 
 between the present value of the pension 
 liabilities and the value of the pension assets 
that have been set aside as payment for the 
benefits. The pension assets are recognised  
at their fair value. The pension liabilities and pen-
sion assets are measured on the balance sheet 
date. 

Employers’ national insurance contributions 
are included in the figures and are calculated 
on the net actual under-financing. 

The Company’s ordinary pension plan gives all 
members the right to a future defined benefit. 
The final benefit depend on the  number of 
 service years, the salary level on the retirement 
date and an estimated benefit payable under 
the National Insurance Scheme, based on 
 current regulations. 

The group has accrued an Agreed Early 
 Retirement libaility for members already  entered 
into early retirement. The remaining  
liability is not accrued for in accordance with 
Norwegian practise since a fair valuation is 
 impossible.

Defined contribution plans are recorded based 
on a matching principle where  contributions 
are expensed as they are paid. 

The group has also accrued a pension liability re-
lated to defined benefits for certain  employees 
with salaries beyond 12G. The  liability is accrued 
based on the same base assumptions as the 
defined benefit plans. 

INVENTORIES
Inventories are recorded at the lower of their 
acquisition cost according to the FIFO method 
and their net sales value. 

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND  
OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade accounts receivable and other  
receivables are recorded in the annual  
accounts at their nominal value less a 
provision for future bad debts.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS 
Cash and bank deposits include cash, bank  
deposits and other means of payments with 
maturity less than 3 months.

CURRENCY HEDGING
The company calculates its exposure in  various 
currencies. Large, uncovered foreign- exchange 

positions are covered by entering into forward 
exchange contracts. Forward  exchange contracts 
are classified as hedges  
of future transactions and assets kept off  
the balance sheet.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Bank deposits, receivables and liabilities  
in foreign currencies are translated at the 
 exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 
 Prepaid subscriptions in foreign currencies  
are, as at 31 December recorded at a weighted 
average of the rate on the payment date and the 
forward exchange rate.

INCOME TAXES
Income tax is shown together with the  
accounting result before tax. Taxes linked  
to equity transactions are debited to equity.  
Taxes consist of taxes payable (tax on the 
year’s direct taxable income) and changes  
in net deferred tax. The tax cost is divided 
 between the profit on ordinary operations  
and the profit on extraordinary items in 
 accordance with its tax base. Deferred tax and 
deferred tax assets are presented net  
in the balance sheet.

NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
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 NHST  GROUP
2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013

0 0 0 Cost of goods sold 83 959 73 798 59 026 

0 0 0 Printing costs 85 522 98 527 101 779 

0 0 0 Distribution costs 125 570 130 761 130 771 

4 38 23 Purchased content 55 695 56 757 60 954 

4 38 23 Total 350 746 359 843 352 530 

NOTE 3 | COST OF GOODS AND SERVICES SOLD   Figures in NOK 1 000

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATION   Figures in NOK 1 000

 NHST  GROUP
2013 2014 2015 Personnel costs 2015 2014 2013

36 811 36 392 39 069 Salaries 473 978 468 597 447 033 

6 331 5 517 5 420 National Insurance contributions 80 732 76 743 72 249 

1 471 982 934 Pension costs define benefit plans 17 288 11 200 14 640 

702 677 770 Pension cost contribution plans 6 975 6 973 5 900 

0 0 0 Pension costs – abroad 8 336 8 404 5 030 

4 918 3 871 3 485 Other benefits 19 099 20 891 24 492 

50 232 47 439 49 678 Total 606 407 592 808 569 343

52 47 41 Average number of FTE 727 744 748

NOTE 2 | OPERATING REVENUES CONT.   Figures in NOK 1 000

Revenue by region: Figures in NOK 1 000

 NHST  GROUP
2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013

82 098 88 379 87 710 Norway 815 200 840 117 878 492 

0 0 0 Rest Europe and Africa 294 088 243 192 228 665 

0 0 0 North- and South America 74 289 67 007 61 222 

0 0 0 Asia og Oceania 88 349 85 044 68 456 

82 098 88 379 87 710 Total 1 271 925 1 235 360 1 236 835 
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Fees paid to Deloitte AS and associated companies excluding VAT, are allocated as follows:    
 

 NHST
 

 GROUP

2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013
270 376 332 Statutory audit* 2 191 1 697 1 879

0 0 0 Attestation services 24 73 46 

13 14 0 Tax services 50 181 193 

146 158 323 Other services 515 307 275 

429 548 655 Total 2 780 2 258 2 393

 NHST  GROUP
2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013

28 721 37 075 39 632 Office expenses 138 879 118 092 108 227 

736 495 191 Marketing 32 233 31 624 38 621 

0 488 0 Bad debt 255 533 8 510 

19 323 19 048 15 794 Other expenses 89 174 98 291 106 900 

48 780 57 106 55 617 Total 260 540 248 540 262 258

NOTE 5 | OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES    Figures in NOK 1 000

 NHST GROUP
2013 2014 2015 Remuneration and fees 2015 2014 2013
945 985 985 Board remuneration 2 096 2 246 2 155 

4 050 3 851 4 626 Remuneration to the CEO 4 626 3 851 4 050 

The remuneration to the Chief Executive Officer includes a bonus, a company car and a pension premium. The total remuneration MNOK 4.6  
consits of MNOK 4.2 in salary and bonus, MNOK 0.1 in pension costs and MNOK 0.31 in other items. If dismissed by the employer, it has been 
agreed that the CEO is to receive up to 18 months’ salary. NHST has not granted any loans to or lodged any security on behalf of management  
or directors in 2015.

The fee to the chairman of the Board was NOK 190.000 and NOK 125.000 to each of the board members.  External members of the Boards  
in subsidiaries receive a fee for their services according to the size of the company.       
   

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATION CONT.    Figures in NOK 1 000

* Include fees related to the IFRS reporting to Bonheur.
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NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES    Figures in NOK 1 000

According to the Norwegian Compulsory Company Pension Plan, any Norwegian company must provide a pension plan for its employees. 
All the concerned group companies have plans in accordance with the Act’s requirements. Nine of the companies have defined benefit plans  
of which 8 are closed plans only covering existing employees as of 1.1.2010 and 1 was closed as of 30.06.11. New employees are offered defined 
contribution plans. The remaining companies have defined contribution plans for its workforce. The group has also accrued a pension liability 
related to defined benefits for certain employees with salaries beyond 12G. The liability is accrued based on the same base assumptions as  
the different benefit plans and covers up to 66% of salaries between 67 and 77 years.

Defined contribution plans:
The group has two different defined contribution plans for its employees in Norway. Nine companies have plans where the contribution is 
defined as 5 % of the wage between 1-6 G and 8 % of wage between 6-12 G. The remaining Norwegian employees are covered by a minimum 
contribution plan based on contributions of 2 % of the base salary. In both of the plans, there is a disabled insurance, covering 66 % of base salary 
when fully vested. Currently 249 employees are in contribution plans as of 31.12.15.

Defined benefit plans:
The defined benefit plans cover 19 employees and 11 pensioners in NHST and 207 employees in total for the group. In addition, there were 86 
 pensioners.

The liabilities and costs have been calculated based on the following assumptions:       

 2015 2014
Discount rate 2,9 % 2,6 %

Estimated return 3,3 % 3,9 %

Salary increase 2,1 % 3,1 %

Inflation and G (National Insurance basic amount) adjustment 1,9 % 3,1 %

Pension payment increase 1,2 % 1,5 %

Retirement rate for those under the age of 40 10,0 % 10,0 %

Retirement rate for the age class 40 to 55 5,0 % 5,0 %

Retirement rate for those over the age of 55 2,0 % 2,0 %

NHST GROUP

2015 2014 2015 2014

Pension cost related to the contribution plans 770 677 6 975 6 973 
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Net pension costs are made up as follows:
NHST GROUP

2015 2014 2015 2014
Interest cost on the accrued pension liability 1 220 1 301 11 250 8 964 

Social security tax 638 967 6 246 8 355 

Return on plan assets 172 183 1 576 1 256 

Amortised changes in pension plans (1 588) (1 677) (9 833) (10 391)

Amortised actuarial gains and losses (255) (435) 4 941 55 

Payments from members 0 0 0 (19)

Administration costs 194 178 2 104 1 988 

Net pension costs defined benfit plans 381 517 16 284 10 208

Net pension cost on unfunded define benefit plans 552 465 1 003 992

Net pension costs 934 982 17 288 11 200

Balance sheet as per 31 December:
Estimated value of plan assets 40 499 39 839 274 926 246 938 

Employer’s National Insurance contributions on net liabilities (48) (40) (21) (2 468)

Estimated accrued pension liabilities (23 026) (25 577) (242 793) (250 481)

Estimated net pension assets (liabilities) 17 424 14 222 32 112 (6 011)

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses (9 063) (9 149) 50 681 67 509

Net balance sheet assets (liabilitiy) for defined benefit plans 8 361 5 074 82 793 61 499

Net balance sheet (liability) for unfunded defined contribution plans (6 530) (5 978) (16 490) (15 486)

Net pension assets / (liability)  1 831 (904) 66 303 46 013

NHST GROUP 

Other intangible  
assets Goodwill Goodwill

Other intangible  
assets

14 345 0 Acquisition cost 1.1 160 374 119 570

9 340 0 Additions 0 29 246

4 206 0 Disposals 0 0

19 478 0 Acquisition cost 31.12 160 374 148 816

4 284 0 Acc. amortisation 31.12 98 687 84 208

15 195 0 Book value 31.12 61 687 64 608

4 284 0 This year’s amortisation 14 437 16 560

0 0 This year’s impairment 0 0

3 to 10 years 5 to 10 years Expected lifetime 5 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Straight-line Straight-line Amotisation method Straight-line Straight-line

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS    Figures in NOK 1 000

NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CONT.  Figures in NOK 1 000
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Fixed assets:

NHST GROUP

Machinery
and

equipment Fixtures

Art/
 Company

cabin Total
Total

Art/
 Company

cabin Fixtures

Machinery
and

equipment

29 041 14 385 4 355 47 782 Acquisition cost 1.1 106 030 4 586 19 014 82 430

4 100 369 2 505 6 973 Additions 18 654 2 505 5 404 10 746

0 0 0 0 Disposals 3 329 0 0 3 329

33 141 14 754 6 860 54 755 Acquisition cost 31.12 121 355 7 090 24 418 89 847

28 271 8 651 0 36 922 Acc. depreciation 31.12 92 204 0 13 485 78 719

4 870 6 103 6 860 17 833 Book value 31.12 29 151 7 090 10 932 11 128

1 940 1 913 0 3 853 This year's depreciation 10 218 0 5 401 4 817

0 0 0 0 This year's write downs 0 0 0 0

 3 to 5 years  Lease 
period 

Expected lifetime  Lease 
period 

 3 to 5 years 

Straight-line Straight-line Depreciation method Straight-line Straight-line

Off balance sheet leasing agreements (Group) Period
Annual

leasing cost

Akerselva Atrium, Chr. Krohgsgt 16, Oslo (main office) 4 år 32 304 

125 Wood Street, London 10 år 3 279 

Rosenlundsgatan 40, Stockholm 3 år 3 066 

The Riverwalk, 20 Upper Circular Road, Singapore 1 år 2 156 

Sandbrogaten 5-7, Bergen 4 år 3 203 

Hainstraße 20-24,Leipzig 1 år 1 016 

5151 San Felipe, Houston 2 år 1 300 

3321 Division Street, Metairie, United States 1 år 897 

Klubbgaten 6, Stavanger 5 år 557 

1330 Aztec West Almondsbury, Bristol 2 år 620 

Unit 1305,13/F, Sunbeam Centre, 27 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong 1 år 663 

Huasheng Business Building, Huangpu District, Shanghai 1/2 år 335 

198 Colombia Heights, NewYork 1 år 407 

Nordre Fasanvej 113-115, Fredriksberg, Denmark 3 år 227 

Other lease commitments Variable 2 043 

Total 52 073 

GROUP GROUP

Goodwill specified by related company: Book value 31.12 Amortisation
2015 2014 2015 2014

Intrafish Media AS 0 2 824 2 824 3 700

Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 1 729 2 594 865 865

Smartcom TV AS 0 0 0 1 959

Europower AS 0 394 394 1 575

Nautisk Forlag AS 6 939 9 252 2 313 2 313

MyNewsdesk AB 52 694 60 452 7 758 7 758

NHST Monde 0 0 0 253

MyNewsdesk GmbH 325 608 283 283

Total 61 687 76 124 14 437 18 705

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS CONT.    Figures in NOK 1 000
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Company
Acquisition 

date
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and % of 

votes
Acquisition 

cost
Book value

31.12
Equity 
31.12

This year’s 
result

Subsidiary:

Dagens Næringsliv AS 01.01.91 Oslo 100,0 % 17 251 17 251 85 153 40 949 

Nautisk Forlag AS 01.01.64 Oslo 100,0 % 6 600 6 600 18 107 6 235 

TradeWinds AS 09.01.85 Oslo 100,0 % 231 231 33 468 11 388 

TDN Dagens Næringsliv Nyhetsbyrå AS 01.01.91 Oslo 100,0 % 926 926 7 590 588 

Upstream AS 20.06.96 Oslo 100,0 % 10 200 10 200 7 315 960 

NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd 09.09.97 Singapore 100,0 % 4 4 11 936 1 058 

Europower AS 02.01.01 Oslo 100,0 % 4 808 4 808 2 458 (3 591)

Intrafish Media AS 01.03.01 Bergen 100,0 % 27 730 27 730 26 214 2 756 

Dagens Næringsliv Privat Økonomi AS 01.06.06 Oslo 100,0 % 125 125 146 (24)

Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende AS 01.12.06 Oslo 100,0 % 230 230 241 (23)

NHST Monde Ltd 01.04.07 New Dehli 50,0 % 1 338 1 338 (2 233) (992)

Recharge AS 02.05.08 Oslo 100,0 % 4 365 0 258 (4 040)

MyNewsdesk AB 07.08.08 Stockholm 100,0 % 118 911 118 911 9 952 (6 547)

Innholdsutvikling AS 24.03.04 Oslo 100,0 % 7 622 3 622 16 006 1 210 

NHST Germany GmbH 05.12.12 Leipzig 100,0 % 203 203 (9 730) (17)

Total 200 544 192 179

Subsidiary of Intrafish Media AS:

Eierselskapet Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 20.06.07 Bergen 66,6 % 13 104 13 104 28 613 (23)

Subsidiary of Eierselskapet  
Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS:

Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 01.03.01 Bergen 100,0 % 27 726 27 726 15 745 95 

Subsidiary of Nautisk Forlag AS:  

Nautisk Forlag USA Inc 13.12.11 New Orleans 100,0 % 19 812 9 812 (11 656) (7 978)

Navicharts AS 06.11.00 Oslo 100,0 % 130 130 132 (25)

Nautical Charts Hong Kong Ltd 01.01.13 Hong Kong 100,0 % 1 1 (438) 964 

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES   Figures in NOK 1 000

Notes
8 / 9

NHST has increased its shareholding in Innholdsutvikling AS to 100 %. Innholdsutvikling with its subsidiary Intermedium AS is reclassified to a 
subsidiary in the Group.

The investments in and receivable balances against subsidiaries are tested annually for impairment based on their financial performance, equity  
and future expected cash flows. The companies are tested based on a stand alone basis, or grouped together when the real exposure is associated 
to a subgroup. Based on the analysis the NHST’s investment in Recharge is written down from NOK  4.4 million to NOK 0 and the investment in 
Intstream Oy booked in Europower AS was written down with NOK 3.8 million. The investment in Nautisk Forlag USA Inc booked in Nautisk Forlag 
AS has also been written down with NOK 10.0 million to NOK 9.8 million.
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Company
Acquisition 

date
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and % of 

votes
Acquisition 

cost
Book value

31.12 Equity 31.12
This year 

result

Subsidiary of Europower AS:

Instream OY 01.04.07 Helsinki 100,0 % 7 731 3 931 587 83 

Energi Forlag AS 10.09.07 Oslo 100,0 % 112 112 126 (39)

Subsidiary of NHST Asia Pte Ltd:

NHST India 01.06.11 New Dehli 100, 0% 0 0 (699) (240)

NHST Monde Ltd 01.06.11 New Dehli 50,0 % 374 374 (2 233) (992)

Subsidiary of Mynewsdesk AB:

Mynewsdesk AS 01.07.10 Oslo 100,0 % 99 99 434 540 

Mynewsdesk Aps 11.10.11 København 100,0 % 81 81 1 063 301 

Mynewsdesk Ltd 22.08.11 London 100,0 % 10 10 1 884 652 

Subsidiary of
NHST Germany GmbH:

Mynewsdesk GmbH 20.09.13 Leipzig 100,0 % 209 209 1 870 594 

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES CONT.   Figures in NOK 1 000

NOTE 9 | INVESTMENTS IN OTHER SHARES   Figures in NOK 1 000

Investments in associated companies NHST GROUP
Company Acquisition 

date
Registered 

office
Ownership Acquisition

cost
Book value

 31.12
Book value

 31.12

Morgenbladet AS 24.01.14 Oslo 33,3 % 4 499 5 611 5 611 

Smartcom TV AS 01.09.05 Oslo 35,0 % 31 884 0 0 

Norcon Computing Systems AS 01.07.15 Oslo 20,0 % 550 0 550 

Others 0 0 0

Total 5 611 6 161

Equity accounted companies    

 
Morgen- 

bladet AS

 
Smartcom 

TV AS

 Norcon 
Computing 
Systems AS

Allocation of purchase price:

Equity at acquisition  4 499  24 912  550 

Allocated intangible assets 0  0  0 

Goodwill 0  6 622  0

Total acquisition cost  4 499  31 884  550 

Opening balance 1.1.  4 558  539  0 

Share of this years result   1 053  (889)  0 

Capital increase 0  350 0

Acquisition 0 0  550 

Balance sheet value 31.12  5 611  0  550 
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NOTE 10 | RECEIVABLES    Figures in NOK 1 000

NHST GROUP

2013 2014 2015 2015 2014 2013

Accounts receivable:

18 871 11 Accounts receivable face value 123 559 140 504 125 752 

0 0 0 Provisions for bad debt (3 107) (7 160) (7 075)

18 871 11 Book value accounts receivable 120 452 133 344 118 677

Receivables with due date beyond 12 months:

116 116 616 Deposits and other long term receivables  7 110  2 904  2 283 

5 700 5 700 5 700 Funds in NHST Pensjonskasse 5 700 5 700 5 700 

5 816 5 816 6 316 Total other long-term receivables 12 810 8 604 7 983 

9 174 9 232 14 622 Loans to other group companies 0 0 0 

14 990 15 048 20 938 Total receivables with due date beyond 12 months 12 810 8 604 7 983

2013 2014 2015 Short term inter-company receivables:

 46 392  42 001  3 766 Dagens Næringsliv AS

 66 378  77 687  81 737 Nautisk Forlag AS

 1 463  947  1 103 TradeWinds AS

 134  89  131 TDN Nyhetsbyrå AS

 1 413  848  811 Upstream AS

0 0 0 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

 2 971  166  158 Europower AS

 114  95  (169) Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS

 1 669  4 803  513 Intrafish Media AS

 11 274  12 945  8 778 Recharge AS

 121  1 146  833 Mynewsdesk AB

 2  4  12 Nautisk USA

0  34  42 Nautisk Hong Kong 

 0 0  112 NHST Germany

 142 964  140 764  97 828 Total

2013 2014 2015 Intercompany balances with associated companies 2015 2014 2013
 11 035  0  500 Smartcom TV AS 500  0  0 

0  0  0 Norcon Computing Systems AS  0  0  0 

0  486  4 324 Morgenbladet AS  4 324  486  0 

 11 035  486  4 824 Total  4 824  486  0 

Notes
10 / 11 / 12
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NHST GROUP
2013 2014 2015    Bank deposits 2015 2014 2013

2 371 1 966 1 884 Employees’ tax deductions 17 574 17 080 18 853 

133 0 0 Deposits 0 365 492 

2 504 1 966 1 884 Total restricted cash deposits 17 574 17 445 19 345 

NOTE 11 | BANK DEPOSITS    Figures in NOK 1 000 

 
NHST GROUP

2013 2014 2015 This year’s tax cost consists of:  2015  2014  2013 

2 443 2 321 0 Tax payable 6 204 4 333 3 316 

0 0 0 Taxes payable abroad 2 283 1 347 584 

0 0 0 Tax on group contribution 0 0 0 

329 862 (7 202) Change in temporary differences (6 677) 4 666 9 811 

119 0 707 Net effect of changes in tax rates  (1 244) 0 14 

0 0 0 Changes in previous years calculations 13 0 0 

2 890 3 183 (6 495) Total tax costs 580 10 345 13 726 

Income tax payable in the balance sheet: 

2 443 2 321 0 This year's annual tax cost 8 488 5 680 3 900

0 (17) 0 Corrections of previous years 0 (17) 0

0 0 0 Tax payable abroad (7 927) 0 0

2 443 2 304 0 Tax payable on the balance sheet 561 5 663 3 900

From nominal tax rate to actual 
tax charges:

 2 341 (2 386)  (40 122) Net result before tax  6 522 (14 964)  5 567

 656 (644)  (10 833) Nominal tax cost  1 761  (4 040)  1 559

Tax effect of the following items:  

0 Amortisation of goodwill 3 464 4 648 4 963 

72 86 314 Non deductible expenses 1 548 2 485 904 

0 0 (44) Other non taxable income (744) (6) (1)

0 0 2 183 Non deductible interest expenses 2 183 0 0 

2 045 3 741 1 179 Impairment of investments 0 849 1 120

0 0 0 Investment in TS 0 0 0 

0 0 0 Tax effects abroad 4 028 6 160 5 132

0 0 0 Changes in valuation of deferred tax losses (10 475) 175 36 

119 0 707 Effects of changes in tax regulations (1 244) 0 14 

0 0 0 Other items 59 74 0 

2 890 3 183 (6 495) Net tax cost/(income) 580 10 345 13 726 

(123 %)  133 % 16 % Effective tax rate 9 % (69 %) 247 %

NOTE 12 | TAXES    Figures in NOK 1 000
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NHST 
Share 

capital
Treasury

shares
Share pre-

mium reserve
Other 

equity Total
Equity as at 31.12.14 12 879 (448) 50 551 9 028 72 011 

Change in equity during the year:

Proposed dividend 0 0 0 0  0

Net profit for the year 0 0 0 (33 628)  (33 628)

Equity as at 31.12.14 12 879 (448) 50 551 (24 600) 38 383

GROUP
Share 

capital
 Treasury

shares
Share pre-

mium reserve
Other 

equity
Minority  
interests Total

Shareholder’s equity as of 31.12.14 12 879 (448) 50 551 27 146 11 914 102 043 

Change in equity during the year:

Proposed dividend 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Changed ownership in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change in minority shareholding 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Translation differences 0 0 0 3 806 0 3 806 

Net profit for the year 0 0 0 5 828 116 5 944 

Equity as at 31.12.14 12 879 (448) 50 551 36 780 12 030 111 793 

NOTE 12 |  TAXES CONT.    Figures in NOK 1 000

 Tax effect of temporary differences and tax losses carried forward: 

 NHST  GROUP   
  Change  2014  2015  2014  2014  Change

435 (2 095) (1 660) Fixed assets (3 857) (4 679) 822 

0 0 0 Intangible assets (432) 700 (1 132)

0 0 0 Inventory (330) (581) 251 

0 0 0 Receivables (860) (1 351) 491 

0 0 0 Accounting accruals (8) (413) 406 

702 (244) 458 Pension 16 551 12 433 4 117 

0 0 0 Other items 2 2 (0)

(7 631) 0 (7 631) Loss carry forward (33 754) (18 526) (15 228)

(6 495) (2 339) (8 834) Total  (22 688) (12 415) (10 273)

0 0 0 Non capitalised tax losses  11 291  11 651  (360) 

(6 495) (2 339) (8 834) Net deferred tax assets / (liability) (11 397) (763) (10 634)

Tax effects from changed ownership in  
subsidiary (2 713)

Net deferred tax assets / (liability) in the 
balance sheet incl. deconsolidated companies

(11 397) (3 476) (7 921)

NOTE 13 | EQUITY    Figures in NOK 1 000

Deferred tax assets have been capitalised based on expected future income. 

Own shares:    
NHST owns 44.752 of it own shares. The shares have been bought to be used in relation to business trancactions or in employe share programs.

Notes
12 / 13 / 14
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Short-term inter-company debt

 NHST
2013 2014 2015

246 394 208 023 210 198 Dagens Næringsliv AS

44 071 51 708 73 781 TradeWinds AS

7 237 7 124 6 555 TDN Nyhetsbyrå AS

27 184 20 654 32 767 Upstream AS

339 4 0 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

0 29 501 31 040 Intrafish Media AS

0 598 1 943 Europower AS

1 18 0 Smartcom TV AS

14 0 0 Recharge AS

67 20 15 Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS

22 0 0 Nautisk Forlag AS

0 9 702 20 803 Mynewsdesk AB

 325 330  327 351  377 101 Total

Long term debt: 
Europower’s Finnish subsidiary, Intstream, has a EUR 278 000 loan from TEKES, a governmental finance agency for technology firms. The  
interest rate is FIBOR less 1 %, but no lower than 3 %. The repayment schedule commence only when and if the company is profitable and  
has recovered any previous accumulated deficits. If the company for any reason is closed down, the loan included accumulated interest will  
be void.  

Short term debt:
Group cash pool and pledged security
As per 31.12 the group’s only material external financing element is a creditline of MNOK 100. As per 31.12 the groups has drawn down MNOK 50 
on the  credit line. The credit line has a floating interst rate. The parent company and its fully owned subsidiaries are jointly and severally liable for 
the credit line. The trade accounts receivables in Dagens Næringsliv AS and the shares in Mynewsdesk AB are also pledged as collateral. All the 
bank accounts included in the corporate acoount system of the group is an intercompany balance between the parent company and the bank. 
All the fully owned companies of the group are jointly and separatly responsible for the credit facility.

The other companies are only participants in the corporate account system and has no relation to the bank from an accounting perspective.  
In the parent company’s financial statements the book value of the subsidiaries’ bank accounts is presented as an intercompany balance.

NOTE 14 | LONG TERM DEBT    Figures in NOK 1 000

Other short term debt

 NHST GROUP
 2013  2014  2015  2015  2014  2013 
4 548 3 906 4 009 Accrued holiday pay 34 400 35 261 35 869 

102 20 0 Accrued personnel costs 8 672 14 750 12 961 

0 0 0 Accrued distribution costs 5 846 2 827 371 

990 855 900 Accrued Board remuneration 1 904 1 834 2 232 

2 170 8 443 1 623 Other accrued costs 29 920 27 676 29 053 

7 810 13 224 6 532 Total 80 742 82 348 80 486 
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Notes
15 / 16

NOTE 15 | RELATED PARTIES   

The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, supplies IT and financial services to Group companies, which are invoiced according to services 
actually used. In addition, a share of overhead costs is charged based on the use of financial and IT services or the number of employees in the 
companies.  

NOTE 16 | SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

The company’s share capital as at 31.12.15 was TNOK 12.879 (1.287.925 shares each with a nominal value of NOK 10). 

There is only one share class. Each share carries one vote.

Ownership structure
The 20 larges shareholders in NHST Media Group AS as of 31.12.15: NO. OF SHARES OWNERSHIP

Bonheur ASA 347 693 27,00 %

Ganger Rolf ASA 347 693 27,00 %

Must Invest AS 280 075 21,75 %

Fredrik Olsen AS 28 290 2,20 %

Fr Falck Frås AS 23 513 1,83 %

Sjøgress AS 23 167 1,80 %

Pareto AS 21 475 1,67 %

MP Pensjon PK 20 269 1,57 %

Røed Gunvor Jorunn H 15 200 1,18 %

DNB Livsforsikring 14 144 1,10 %

Straen A/S 13 743 1,07 %

Amble investments AS 13 585 1,05 %

Taconic AS 12 144 0,94 %

M&G Invest AS 11 152 0,87 %

Oak Management AS 5 750 0,45 %

Tyin AS 4 480 0,35 %

Belvedere AS 3 639 0,28 %

Fjellbakke As 3 292 0,26 %

Øie, Odd Reidar 3 201 0,25 %

Must, Annelise 3 150 0,24 %

Total 20 largest shareholders 1 195 655 92,84 %

Total other shareholders 47 518 3,69 %

Shares owned by NHST 44 752 3,47 %

Total number of shares 1 287 925 100,0 %
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16 / 17 / 18

NOTE 17 | SUBSEQUENT EVENTS   

NOTE 18 | FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

In December 2015 NHST entered into forward exchange contracts for TradeWinds, Upstream, Recharge, and Intrafish with vesting dates 1–13 
months going forward and allocated into 12 separate contracts in 2016. The contracts cover 35–50 % of the companies budgetted income in USD 
and EUR and purchase of the first 25–30 % of budgetted expenses in GBP and SGD.

All forward exchange contracts are hedge accounted.

The forward exchange rates were in the interval [8,7617 , 8,7917] in 2016 as against [6,7728 , 7,2002] i 2015. for the USD/NOK. The corresponding  
interval for EUR/NOK was [9,5823, 9,6624] in 2016 against [8,4901 , 8,9319] in 2015.        
    
The forward exchenge rate for GBP/NOK is in te intervall [13,1869 , 13,1961] in 2016 as against [10,6252 , 11,2867] in 2015 and the rates for SGD/NOK 
is in the interval [6,1808, 6,2307] in 2016 as against [5.1979 , 5.4743] in 2015.5

NOTE 16 | SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION CONT.

Shares controlled directly or indirectly by members of the Board or their related parties:      
 

Name Position No. of shares Ownership

Anette S. Olsen * Chairman of the Board 695 386 53,99 %

Richard Olav Aa Board member 565 0,04 %

Gunnar Bjørkavåg CEO 11 152 0,87 %

 31.12.15  31.12.14
USD NOK USD NOK

Nominal value 6 000 000 8 863 000 

Unrealised gain/(loss) as of 31.12. (102 049) (4 072 983)

EURO NOK EURO NOK
Nominal value 2 400 000 4 280 000 

Unrealised gain/(loss) as of 31.12. (92 406) (1 744 082)

GBP NOK GRP NOK

Nominal value 1 200 000 2 673 000 

Unrealised gain/(loss) as of 31.12. (177 828) 1 703 795

SGD NOK SGD NOK

Nominal value 1 200 000 2 400 000 

Unrealised gain/(loss) as of 31.12. (8 602) 620 816

There are no subsequent events with material effect related to the 2015 accounts. However, subsequent to the balancesheet date, NHST sold its shares 
in TDN Finans and Intstream. The transaction resulted in a net gain in the first quarter of 2016. In addition, NHST has increased its shareholding  
in Morgenbladet to 90.1 %.  

* The number of shares related to Anette S. Olsen is based on the shares owned by Bonheur ASA og Ganger Rolf ASA where Anette S. Olsen is CEO. 
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NHST THROUGH THE YEARS

DN

NAUTICAL CHARTS

GLOBAL

DIRECT RELATIONS

2003
Navichart

1889
Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende

1896
NHST Chart Department

1964
Nautisk Forlag

2008
Neptune

2011
McCurnin

1987 2001
Dagens Næringsliv DN Nye Medier og Dn.no

2007
D2

2015
Morgenbladet

1990
TradeWinds

1996
Upstream

2001
IntraFish

2008
Recharge

2008
MyNewsdesk 

1995
TDN

2001
Europower

2012
ddp direct 

2015
Intermedium 

1889 > 2015
NHST MEDIA GROUP

NHST through the years

SEA LEGS: Sales of  

maritime charts and maps 

provided the company  

with an extra leg to stand 

on from the start, and  

generated life-saving  

revenues when times were 

tough.

GOLDEN YEARS: Shipping 

and shipping journalism  

enjoyed good years after 

World War II, here symbolized 

by journalist Kåre Gravdal at 

Oslo’s harbour around 1960.

FOUNDER: Magnus Andersen 

started publishing the newspaper  

in 1890, first and foremost to improve 

the position of seafarers and maritime 

officers.

A MAN’S WORLD: As this  

house ad from 1938 implied,  

it was a newspaper with the 

“businessman” as its preferred 

reader.

NICHE PAPER: Dissolution of 

Norway’s political union with 

Sweden in 1905 was no big  

story for Norges Sjøfartstidende, 

which concentrated on its niche 

within shipping news.
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DN

NAUTICAL CHARTS

GLOBAL

DIRECT RELATIONS

2003
Navichart

1889
Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende

1896
NHST Chart Department

1964
Nautisk Forlag

2008
Neptune

2011
McCurnin

1987 2001
Dagens Næringsliv DN Nye Medier og Dn.no

2007
D2

2015
Morgenbladet

1990
TradeWinds

1996
Upstream

2001
IntraFish

2008
Recharge

2008
MyNewsdesk 

1995
TDN

2001
Europower

2012
ddp direct 

2015
Intermedium 

1889 > 2015
NHST MEDIA GROUP

NEW ERA: Conversion  

to a tabloid format and 

livelier, more critical  

journalism from 1980 

were among changes 

ushered in by the new  

reform-minded editor 

Jan Erik Knarbakk.

YUPPIE PAPER: The newspaper finally  

became profitable under the leadership of 

Editor-in-Chief Kåre Valebrokk, pictured 

here with managing director Morten Tunge 

and marketing director Terje Overgård.

DN.NO was launched in 2000 

and delivers the latest and  

most important news about the 

economy, business and politics 

in Norway and abroad.

TYING THE KNOT: NHST  

finally teamed up with  

Morgenbladet in 2014, after 

more than a century of  

stormy co-existence and  

several unsuccessful merger 

attempts.

GLOSSY: New advertising 

markets and new lifestyle 

journalism were behind the 

launch of the Friday magazine 

D2 in 2007.

GLOBAL EXPANSION was 

launched with TradeWinds in 

1990, followed by Upstream 

and other English-language 

publications.
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NHST Media Group AS (NHST) is an unli-
sted company, but transactions are supervi-
sed by Norges Fondsmeglerforbund and 
the market value of the share is published 
on the NOTC list every day. The share is 
publicly and freely traded, but there is very 
limited trading in the share. The last trans-
action before year end was made at NOK 
350 versus NOK 300 at the same time last 
year. 

The company’s 10 largest shareholders are 
listed under Note 16 to the financial state-
ments. The 10 largest shareholders control 
87 % of the share capital. There is issued  
1 287 925 shares, of which NHST owns  
44 752 shares. Remaining outstanding  
shares are 1 243 174.  

The company’s VPS registrar is DNB ASA, 
Selskapsservice, Dronning Eufemias gate 
30, N-0191 Oslo. The VPS register number 
is ISIN NO 0005007807. NHST is releasing 
its quarterly results both through OTC and 
on its homepage: www.nhst.com.

NHST follows the Norwegian Code of Prac-
tice for Corporate Governance as described 
more thoroughly in the Board of Directors 
Report. The Board as established a compen-
sation committee as well as an audit com-
mittee. The company’s Articles of associa-
tion states that the Board must accept and 
condone all transfers of shares which is not 
in line with the Code of Practise article 4.  

The Board of Directors consists of eight 
members, of which five are elected by the 
shareholders. The members are elected for 
a period of two years, and respectively two 
and three members are elected each year.  

There will be no proposed dividend for 
2015 put before the annual General Assem-
bly. However, the company wishes over 
time to give its shareholders the best possi-
ble return on their investment through 
increased share price and dividends.
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Any company depends on good relations to 
succeed. A good reputation and sound 
financial development are prerequisites for 
building and maintaining confidence 
among important target groups such as 
shareholders, customers, employees, suppli-
ers, partners and public authorities. This 
requires the company to be managed in 
accordance with good control and manage-
ment mechanisms. Open and honest com-
munication and equal treatment of the 
company’s shareholders are also important 
when it comes to increasing shareholder 
value and inspiring confidence. As part of 
this,  NHST Media Group seeks to follow 
the recommendations of the Oslo Stock 
Exchange for corporate governance to 
ensure that these principles are respected 
whenever possible.

In the following is an account of key fac-
tors and any non-conformance with the 
recommendations. 

The Group has annual rolling four-year 
strategic plans, annual budgets and an 
extensive set of rules for journalistic activi-
ties, and provides comprehensive informa-
tion about other matters relating to corpo-
rate governance in its Annual Report. In 
addition, the Company has instructions for 
the Board of Directors and the Group CEO. 

Activities
NHST Media Group AS is a holding com-
pany for a number of media and media-
related companies that form part of the 
Group. NHST also runs a Nautical Charts 
business, which distributes charts and 
publications to the maritime industry.

The Company’s main objective is determi-
ned by the Articles of Associations, which 
stipulates that NHST “is an individual and 
independent media house that primarily 
focuses on publishing trade publications 
and associated activities with the main 
objective of promoting the interests of 
trade and industry.”

Equity and dividend
NHST Media Group AS has a share capital 
of NOK 12 879 250. As at year-end, equity 
was MNOK 38,4, i.e. an equity ratio of 8 %. 
The equity ratio for the Group was 17 %. 

Holdings of own shares remained unchan-
ged in 2015. The holdings of own shares 
consist of 44 752 shares. 

NHST Media Group endeavours to be 
financed through its equity and the Group’s 
objective is to provide a competitive return 
on its shares in the form of price increases 
and dividend. When assessing the amount 
of dividend to be distributed, the Board of 
Directors attaches importance to the 
company’s dividend capacity, requirements 
for adequate equity capital and sufficient 
financial resources for future development. 
The Board of Directors has defined a stra-
tegy that, over time, should give a dividend 
payout of 30 % of a normalised profit after 
tax. 

The Board of Directors has been given two 
authorisations to increase the share capital. 
The authorisations are normally renewed 
at the General Meeting for a term of one 
year or until the next ordinary General 
Meeting. 

The Board of Directors of NHST Media 
Group AS has been authorised to acquire, 
on behalf of the company, the company’s 
own shares with a total face value of up to 
NOK 1 287 925, which is equivalent to 10 
% of the company’s present share capital.

The Board of Directors of NHST Media 
Group AS has also been authorised to 
increase the company’s share capital by up 
to NOK 1 287 925.

No shares were issued in 2015 and no 
share issues have been proposed.

Equal treatment of shareholders 
and transactions with related 
parties
There is only one class of shares, and each 
share carries one vote at the General 
Meeting. 

In the Board of Directors’ authorisation to 
increase the share capital, an exemption 
has been made from the shareholders’ pre-
ferential right to acquire the new shares in 
pursuance of Section 10-4 of the Norwe-
gian Act relating to (Private) Limited Com-
panies.

There are no known shareholders’ agree-
ments or business agreements with related 
parties.

Free negotiability
The shares are freely negotiable. The Board 
of Directors may however, refuse to allow a 
share transfer when this is warranted. The 
right to refuse consent of any acquisition of 

shares is based on the need for editorial 
and commercial independence.

This represents a deviation from the recom-
mendations for Corporate Governance.

The general meeting
The Company’s General Meeting is open to 
all approved shareholders, and all approved 
shares carry equal voting rights. All share-
holders who are registered with the Norwe-
gian Central Securities Depository (VPS) 
receive the notice convening the General 
Meeting and are entitled to submit motions 
and vote either directly in person or by 
proxy. It is not possible to attend and/or 
vote via the Internet.

A General Meeting must be convened in 
accordance with the minimum notice stipu-
lated in the Norwegian Act relating to (Pri-
vate) Limited Companies and not later than 
eight days prior to the date of the General 
Meeting in accordance with the company’s 
Articles of Association.

Documents for the General Meeting, inclu-
ding the Nomination Committee’s nomina-
tions, must be sent to the shareholders not 
later than one week prior to the General 
Meeting. The documents must contain the 
information necessary to ensure that the 
shareholders are able to make decisions on 
the items on the agenda.

According to the Articles of Association, 
the Chairman of the Board chairs the Gene-
ral Meeting. 

The company deviates from the recommen-
dations regarding the minimum notice con-
vening the General Meeting and the 
chairing of the General Meeting.

Nomination committee
The company’s Articles of Association do 
not contain any provisions on a Nomina-
tion Committee. This is a deviation from 
the recommendations. 

The company has decided to have a 
nomination committee. The committee  
consists of Anette Olsen and Christian Must.

Composition and independence of 
the corporate assembly and board 
of directors
NHST Media Group AS does not have a 
Corporate Assembly. NHST Media Group 
has as an objective of balancing the compo-

Corporate governance
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sition of its Board of Directors so that it 
takes into account the expertise, experience 
and relevant background required for the 
company’s activities and reflects the com-
position of its shareholders. The company’s 
management is not represented on the 
Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors normally consists of 
five representatives elected by the sharehol-
ders. All representatives are elected for a 
term of two years at a time on a rotating 
basis. In 2015, two of the members of the 
Board of Directors elected by the sharehol-
ders have direct or indirect shareholdings 
in the company (see note 16). Three of the 
shareholder representatives on the Board of 
Directors are completely independent of 
the major shareholders.

The Board of Directors elects its own Chair-
man and Deputy Chairman. None of the 
Board members have any significant busi-
ness relations with the company apart from 
being shareholders. There are no family 
ties to the General Manager or any other 
executives. 

The board of directors’ work
The Board of Directors held seven Board 
meetings in 2015.

The Board of Directors regularly receives a 
Group reporting package containing finan-
cial information about the Group and its 
individual companies. The Board of Direc-
tors also regularly receives the 
management’s comments on developments 
during the year.

The company’s strategy is reviewed on a 
broad basis at an extended Board meeting 
every year. There is also a rolling review of 
subsidiaries at the individual Board 
meetings. 

The Board of Directors evaluates its work 
on an annual basis, and Board instructions 
have been drawn up for the work of the 
Board of Directors.

The Group Board of Directors has two sub-
committee. The Compensation Committee 
consists of Board members, Anette S. Olsen, 
Joachim Berner and Frank Jansen. The 
Audit committee consist of Richard Olav 
Aa, Kimberly Lein-Mathisen and Espen Lin-
derud.

Risk management and internal 
control
The Group is exposed to various types of 
risks as parts of its ordinary operations, but 
given the nature of the businesses run by 

the Group, financial risks are the most 
important risk type. The management pre-
pares current operating reports for the 
Board of Directors and the Group’s general 
risk profile is discussed on the Board of 
Directors in connection with the annual 
meeting with the auditor.

In the short term, the greatest risk elements 
are the highly unpredictable advertising 
market, technical operational disruptions 
and distribution. Comprehensive systems 
are therefore in place for monitoring and 
handling such situations.

The Group is also exposed to risk connec-
ted with business activities in several for-
eign currencies. This currency exposure is 
assessed on a regular basis, and the Group 
has a policy of hedging a percentage of its 
currency exposure. Currency hedging as at 
31.12 is described in further detail in the 
notes to the accounts.

The Group has a relatively wide customer 
portfolio and therefore has a credit risk in 
this respect. The Group has taken out credit 
insurance for its largest individual custo-
mers in the Norwegian market. 

The majority of the Group’s activities are 
included in a joint Group account scheme 
with central liquidity management.

The Group’s accountability and result 
responsibility have been decentralised in 
line with the corporate governance model 
and the Group’s four business areas. There 
is a central finance and accounting func-
tion, but several finance and accounting 
tasks are handled decentrally at the appro-
priate organisational level. Monthly profit 
and loss reports are prepared centrally and 
follow-up takes place through the subsidia-
ries’ Boards of Directors with external 
Board members and in-house evaluation 
processes.

Remuneration of the board of 
directors
The General Meeting decides the annual 
remuneration payable to the Board of 
Directors for the next 12 months. For 2015, 
the total remuneration paid to the Board of 
Directors amounted to NOK 985 000. 

In May 2015, the General Meeting fixed the 
Directors’ fees at NOK 190 000 for the 
Chairman of the Board and NOK 125 000 
for each of the other Board members  
(reduced in proportion to attendance at 
Board meetings).

Performance-linked Directors’ fees are not 
used.

Remuneration of executives and 
other senior employees
The Group attaches importance to being an 
attractive employer. The company wishes 
to attract competent and skilled employees 
with relevant experience. The company the-
refore aims to have a competitive remune-
ration system. The company’s executives 
and other senior employees receive perfor-
mance-linked salaries.

The structure of the Group’s compensation 
model is discussed by the Board of Direc-
tors or the Compensation Committee on a 
regular basis.

Information and communications 
NHST Media Group endeavours to provide 
good and correct external information 
every quarter and to ensure that the infor-
mation is given to the shareholders on an 
equal basis. Reports and announcements 
are available on NHST’s website at www.
nhst.no and in the OTC reporting system.

The company does not provide specific 
assumptions about future revenues and 
results. 

Company takeover
The company does not have any defence 
mechanisms in its Articles of Association 
against potential takeover bids, nor has the 
company drawn up any guidelines for how 
the company will respond to any takeover 
bids.

Auditor
The Group uses the same firm of accoun-
tants for all its subsidiaries in all markets 
on which the company is actively engaged 
and where auditing is a statutory require-
ment, with the exception of Finland. Over-
all auditing fee quotations are discussed 
and approved by the Board of Directors.

The auditor is not used as a consultant in 
strategic matters. The CFO approves any 
consultancy assignments. 

The auditor attends Board meetings at 
which the annual accounts are discussed 
and has also had a meeting with the Board 
of Directors at which the management was 
not present.

The auditor’s fee is reported at the ordinary 
General Meeting and described in the notes 
to the accounts.
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PEOPLE THROUGH THE YEARS

After many years of being stowed away after frequent moves, the 
company’s portrait gallery featuring some of the newspaper’s most  
important personalities has re-emerged. The portraits have been  
professionally restored and are now on exhibit at NHST’s headquarters  
in Oslo. Most of them portray NHST chairmen during the early decades  
of the company’s history. At that time, it was customary in Norwegian  
business to honour departing chairmen and leading figures with painted 
portraits. Many were hung in the editor’s office so that they peered down 
the current editor’s necks on a daily basis.

Magnus Andersen 
Founder,

1890

Magnus Andersen was a 
highly energetic man in his 
30s when he founded and 
worked in a variety of capaci-
ties at Norges Sjøfartstidende 
from New Year of 1890.  
His portrait shows him as a 
white-haired 70-year-old  
man, painted long after he’d 
moved on.

Oscar Willumsen 
Chairman,

1895-1901

The portrait of wholesaler  
Oscar Willumsen, chairman  
in the years around 1900,  
appears to have been painted 
two decades after his death.  
It was probably painted from 
a photograph.

Knut Domaas 
Editor,

1914-1943

Knut Domaas was the 
newspaper’s legendary editor 
for 30 years, known for his 
sharp pen and strong leader-
ship during some extremely 
troubled times including the 
Depression years and the  
German occupation during 
World War II. He was a  
well-known public figure in 
Norway, as both a speaker 
and newspaper industry  
official. The portrait of  
Domaas remained a fixture  
in the newspaper’s offices  
and was not among those  
stored away.

Olaf Ditlev-Simonsen 
Chairman,

1914-1940

Shipowner Olaf Ditlev-Simonsen 
had a keen interest in the  
shipping press. His cooperation 
with editor Knut Domaas began 
in the newspaper Kysten and  
continued through nearly  
three decades at Norges  
Handels og Sjøfartstidende.  
Ditlev-Simonsen led the 
newspaper’s board of directors 
when Domaas was editor.

People through the years 
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Thomas Fredrik Olsen gazes  
down from the wall during a  
tribute to printing plant veteran 
Thorleif Johnsen (right) by editor  
Terje Baalsrud. This is the portrait 
that’s now in the possession of the  
Olsen family, which still owns a major 
stake in NHST. PHOTO: Thoralf Olsen

Dagfinn Paust 
Chairman,

1940-1946
When the portrait of Dagfinn 
Paust was brought out of  
storage, startled handlers  
discovered it had been slashed 
with a knife, right over Paust’s 
eyes. An examination conclu-
ded it likely was damaged by 
accident before being stored 
away. The damage was repai-
red, while Paust himself was 
known for tolerating attacks. 
As a former seafarer and part-
ner in one of Norway’s largest 
shipowning companies, he  
faced many challenges, not  
least during the war years 
when he even was jailed by 
Nazi German occupiers.

Thomas Fredrik Olsen 
Chairman,

1946-1956
Shipowner Thomas Fredrik  
Olsen, grandfather of current 
board leader Anette Olsen, 
was painted twice. This  
portrait, the work of the  
modern portrait artist Agnes 
Hiorth, bore little likeness  
to Olsen. His family was  
dissatisfied and a new portrait 
was ordered, painted by  
Harald Dahl and now in the 
Olsen family’s possession.  
This is the one in NHST’s  
collection.

Carl Bøyesen 
Chairman,

1956-1965
The last NHST chairman 
known to have been painted 
for a portrait was industrial 
leader Carl Bøyesen, who 
succeeded Thomas Olsen  
and died in 1965.

Alf Ihlen 
Chairman,

1970-1978
Among those missing from 
the portrait collection is the 
powerful Norwegian business-
man Alf Ihlen, who was a 
member of NHST’s board 
from 1946. His last eight years 
as chairman were a particularly 
demanding period. The 
company’s poor financial  
status may be the reason he 
was not painted. Perhaps he 
didn’t want to be remembered 
as a chairman who spent  
money on a portrait when  
business was bad.
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ADDRESSES

NHST MEDIA GROUP

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
www.nhst.no

 DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV

DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
annonse@dn.no
kundeservice@dn.no
redaksjonen@dn.no
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
Fax adm. +47 22 00 10 10 
Fax red. +47 22 00 11 10
Fax abo. +47 22 00 10 60
Fax annonse +47 22 00 10 70
www.avis.dn.no

DN OFFICES
Kristiansand
Tordenskioldsgate 9
N-4612 Kristiansand, Norway
Tel red. +47 38 07 13 00
Fax red. +47 38 07 08 30

Stavanger
Ryfylkegt. 13, PO Box 1538
N-4014 Stavanger, Norway
Tel red. +47 51 51 10 10
Fax red. +47 51 85 81 10

TDN 

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
Tel red. +47 22 00 11 55
Fax red. +47 22 00 11 56
Tel salg +47 22 00 12 06
Fax salg +47 22 00 10 83
finans@tdn.no
marked@tdn.no
www.tdn.no DIRECT RELATIONS

 DIRECT RELATIONS

MYNEWSDESK

Rosenlundsgatan 40
118 53 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel +46 (0) 8 644 89 50
Fax +46 (0) 8 642 75 05
Twitter: @Mynewsdesk
www.mynewsdesk.com

Oslo
Christian Krohgs gate 16
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 19

Helsinki
Korkeavuoren 30A 
00130 Helsinki, Finland 
Tel +358 44 09 09 095

København
Havnegade 39 
1058 Copenhagen, Denmark 
Tel +45 77 99 32 79

Singapore
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 9735 1880

London
7th Floor
125 Wood Street
London, EC2V 7AN
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700

Leipzig
Hainstrase 20-24
04109 Leipzig

Berlin
Ritterstrase 12-14
10969 Berlin

Umeå
Storgatan 50
903 26 Umeå
Tel +46 706-157 190

Malmø
Stora Varusgatan 6A
211 19 Malmø
Tel +46 40-608 4700

Gøteborg
Drottninggatan 69
411 07 Gøteborg
Tel +46 31-352 6500

Trondheim
Beddingen 8
7014 Trondheim 
Tel +47 22 00 10 19

 GLOBAL

TRADEWINDS

Oslo
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway 
Tel +47 22 00 12 00
Fax +47 22 00 12 10 

London
7th Floor
125 Wood Street
London, EC2V 7AN
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150
Fax +44 (0) 20 7029 4199

TRADEWINDS OFFICES
Athens
Michalakopoulou 29  
GR 115 28 Athens, Greece 
Tel +30 210 724 5541
Fax +30 210 724 9508

Bergen
Sandbrogaten 5-7
5003 Bergen, Norway 
Tel +47 55 30 22 38
Fax +47 55 30 22 39

Singapore
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 6557 0555
Fax +65 6557 0444

Stamford
1010 Washington Blvd.
2nd Floor
Stamford CT 06901 
Tel +1 203 324 2994
Fax +1 203 324 3368 

Shanghai
399 Jiujiang Road
Room 703
7th Floor
Huasheng Business Building
Shanghai 200001
Tel: +86 21 6329 6301 
Fax: +86 21 6329 6307 

UPSTREAM

Oslo
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway

Tel red./salg +47 22 00 13 00
Fax red. +47 22 00 13 05
Fax salg +47 22 00 13 10
sales@upstreamonline.com
editorial@upstream.com
www.upstreamonline.com
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UPSTREAM OFFICES
London
7th Floor
125 Wood Street
London, EC2V 7AN
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150
Fax +44 (0) 20 7029 4197

Calgary
3307B-15 Street SW
Calgary, Alberta
T2T 4A2
Canada
Tel +1 403 455 0405

Accra
Silicon House
PO BOX 0641
Ouu Accra, Ghana
Tel editorial +233 244 310 103

Houston
5151 San Felipe, Suite 1440
Houston, TX 77056, USA
Tel editorial +1 713 626 3113
Fax editorial +1 713 626 8134
Tel sales +1 713 626 3113
Fax sales +1 713 626 8125

Moscow
Tel editorial +7 926 203 2233

Rio de Janeiro
Rua da Assembleia 93 - Sala 1602
Centro, Rio de Janeiro, RJ-20.011-001
Brazil
Tel (+55) 21-2285-9217

Perth
17 Chorus Circle
Atwell, Western Australia
6164 Australia
Tel: +61 412 577 266
 
New Delhi
Flat 309A, Mahagun Mosaic Phase 2
Sector-4, Vaishali
Ghaziabad-201010, Uttar Pradesh
India
Tel: +91 9810 859 920

Singapore
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel editorial +65 6557 0652/0653
Fax editorial +65 6557 0900
Tel sales +65 6557 0600
Fax sales +65 6557 0900

Stavanger
Reidar Berges gate 9
4013 Stavanger, Norway
Tel salg +47 51 85 91 50
Fax salg +47 51 85 91 60

Wellington
PO Box 7269, Wellington
New Zealand
Tel editorial +64 4976 9572

INTRAFISH MEDIA

Bergen
Sandbrogaten 5-7
5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel red. +47 55 30 22 30
Fax red. +47 55 21 33 01
Tel salg +47 55 21 33 00
Fax salg +47 55 21 33 40
sales@intrafish.com
info@intrafish.com
redaksjonenintrafish@if.no
www.intrafish.com

INTRAFISH MEDIA OFFICES
Bodø
Storgata 27/29
Postboks 1164
N-8006 Bodø, Norway
Tel +47 75 54 49 00
Fax +47 75 54 49 10

Puerto Varas
Walker Marines 430, Off. 32
Puerto Varas, Region X, Chile
Tel editorial +56 6523 3217
Tel sales +56 6523 3134
Fax +56 6523 3209

Seattle
701 Dexter Ave N ste 410
Seattle, WA 98109 USA
Tel +1 206 282 3474
Fax +1 206 282 3470
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Singapore
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0047
Fax +65 6557 0444

London
7th Floor
125 Wood Street
London, EC2V 7AN
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700
Fax +44 (0) 20 7029 5749

FiskeribladetFiskaren
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00
Fax +47 55 21 33 01
redaksjonen@fiskaren.no
annonse@fiskaren.no
www.fiskaren.no

FBFI Harstad
Postboks 103
Sjøgata 7 
9405 Harstad
Tel +47 77 05 90 00 
 
FBFI Tromsø 
Grønnegata 53 
9008 Tromsø

RECHARGE

Oslo
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 17 00
Fax +47 24 10 17 10 

London
7th Floor
125 Wood Street
London, EC2V 7AN
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700
Fax +44 (0) 20 7029 5749 

RECHARGE OFFICES
Stavanger 
Reidar Berges gate 9
4013 Stavanger, Norway
Tel +47 51 93 87 80
Fax +47 51 93 87 81 

Houston
5151 San Felipe, Suite 1440 
Houston TX 77056, USA 
Tel +1 713 693 5500
Fax +1 713 693 5501  
 

EUROPOWER

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
Tel red. +47 22 00 12 72
Fax red. +47 22 00 12 75
Tel salg +47 22 00 11 50
Fax salg +47 22 00 10 83
marked@europower.no
www.europower.com 
 

 NAUTICAL CHARTS

NAUTISK FORLAG

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 68 Sentrum 
N-0101 Oslo, Norway

Tel +47 22 00 85 00
Fax +47 22 00 85 01
sales@nautisk.no
www.nautisk.com

NAUTISK FORLAG OFFICES
Singapore
20 Upper Circular Road
#B1-22 The Riverwalk
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0170
Fax +65 6557 0270
singapore@nautisk.no

New Orleans
Nautisk USA
3321 Division Street
Metaire, LA 70005
Tel +1 800 638 4544

Hong Kong
Unit 1305
13th Floor Sunbeam Centre
27 Shing Yip Street
Kwun Tong
Kowloon 

Bristol
Unit 1330 Aztec west
Park Avenue, Aztec west
Bristol BS32 45Y
UK 

Aberdeen
Suite 2 Provender House
37 Waterloo Quay
Aberdeen, AB11 53S

 OTHER

SMARTCOM

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 23 00 81 50
Fax +47 22 23 42 35
post@smartcom.no
www.smartcom.no

MORGENBLADET

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway
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